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UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

Form 10-Q

(Mark One)
XI QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the quarterly period ended June 30, 2008
OR
O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For transition period from to

Commission File Number 001-33622

VMWARE, INC.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its chaetr)

Delaware 94-3292913
(State or other jurisdiction of (I.LR.S. Employer
incorporation or organization) Identification Number)

3401 Hillview Avenue
Palo Alto, CA 94304

(Address of principal executive offices (Zip Code)

(650) 427-5000

(Registrant’s telephone number, including area code

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant @b filed all reports required to be filed by Sewti® or 15(d) of the Securities Excha
Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (ordioch shorter period that the registrant was requaodile such reports), and (2) has been
subject to such filing requirements for the pastl@s. Yes[Xl] No O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantlerge accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, @-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting
company. See the definitions of “large acceleréited” “accelerated filer” and “smaller reportirgpmpany” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange
Act.

Large accelerated filer] Accelerated filer] Non-accelerated filefx] Smaller reporting companiy
(Do not cheata smaller reporting company)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantsiel company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exgje Act). Yes[ No

As of August 1, 2008, the number of shares of comstock, par value $.01 per share, of the registratstanding was 388,682,977, of
which 88,682,977 shares were Class A common stogk380,000,000 were Class B common stock.
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PART I
FINANCIAL INFORMATION

ltem 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

VMware, Inc.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

(unaudited)

ASSETS
Current asset:
Cash and cash equivalel
Accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtfegloants of $1,160 and $1,6!
Deferred tax asset, current porti
Income taxes receivable, r
Other current asse
Total current asse
Property and equipment, r
Other assets, n
Deferred tax asset, net of current por
Intangible assets, n
Goodwill

Total asset

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS ' EQUITY

Current liabilities:

Accounts payabl

Accrued expense

Due to EMC, ne

Income taxes payable, current port

Deferred revenue, current porti
Total current liabilities
Note payable to EM(
Deferred revenue, net of current port
Deferred tax liability
Income taxes payable, net of current por
Commitments and contingencies (see Nol
Stockholder equity:

Class A common stock, par value $.01; authoriz6@@000 shares; issued and outstanding 87,959 and

82,924 share
Class B convertible common stock, par value $.0thaized 1,000,000 shares; issued and outstanding
300,000 share
Additional paic-in capital
Retained earnings (accumulated defi
Total stockholder equity

Total liabilities and stockholde’ equity

The accompanying notes are an integral part o€dmsolidated financial statements.

3

December 31

June 30,
2008 2007

$1,540,261 $1,231,16!
309,71¢ 283,82
31,47( 54,38¢

99,64¢ —
46,74 33,95¢
2,027,83! 1,603,33:
349,85 276,98
62,90¢ 71,69t
48,26 72,24¢
33,78: 32,07:
684,33t 639, 36¢
$3,206,98  $2,695,70I
$ 66,98 $ 61,50
171,28: 173,61(
33,34¢ 2,75¢
— 68,82
450,32t 363,31°
721,94( 670,01
450,00 450,00(
270,96: 189,47¢
25,61 27,32
25,47: 18,26t
88C 82¢
3,00( 3,00(
1,668,84 1,352,78!
40,26¢ (16,000)
1,712,99! 1,340,61

$3,206,98. $2,695,70!
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Revenues
License
Services

Operating expense
Cost of license revenus
Cost of services revenu
Research and developmt
Sales and marketir
General and administrati\

Operating incom

Investment incom

Interest expense with EMC, r

Other income (expense), r

Income before taxe

Income tax provisiol

Net income

VMware, Inc.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

(unaudited)

Net income per weight-average share, basic for Class A and Cla
Net income per weight-average share, diluted for Class A and Cla

Weightec-average shares, basic for Class A and Cls
Weightec-average shares, diluted for Class A and Cla

The accompanying notes are an integral part o€dimsolidated financial statements.

4

For the Three Months Ended

For the Six Months Ended

June 30, June 30,

2008 2007 2008 2007
$ 284,23. $ 204,04¢ $578,21: $373,60!
171,89¢ 92,77 316,09( 181,91¢
456,12¢ 296,82!  894,30. 555,52
21,63¢ 20,83: 44,49¢ 41,38¢
58,89: 27,98¢ 113,201 51,45
114,12¢ 71,58 233,38¢ 126,53¢
158,30° 98,98¢ 307,56: 185,69¢
42,16: 30,70: 86,26¢ 57,32
61,00( 46,73t  109,39: 93,117
6,31( 2,714 14,31« 4,41¢
(3,579 (7,799 (9,399 (6,519
37C (14€) 824 (87)
64,101 41,51z 115,13 90,93(
11,76¢ 7,28¢ 19,74( 15,62¢
$ 52,33 $ 3422« $ 95397 $ 75,30¢
$ 014 % 0.1C $ 02t % 0.2:
$ 0.1: $ 0.1C % 024 % 0.2z
382,93 332,50( 381,97¢ 332,50(
398,97¢ 332,50: 398,25¢ 332,50:
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VMware, Inc.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands)

(unaudited)
For the Three Months Ended For the Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30,
2008 2007 2008 2007
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income $ 52,33¢ $ 3422 $ 9539. $ 75,30«
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cashigeal by operating activitie:
Depreciation and amortizatic 39,45¢ 23,62: 76,89: 44,81¢
Stock-based compensation, excluding amounts capita 42,07 15,97: 84,23: 27,617
Excess tax benefits from st-based compensatic (56,735 — (79,42 —
Other adjustment (27¢) (429) 1,05¢ 134
Changes in assets and liabilities, net of acqoissti
Accounts receivabl (25,137 (52,45)) (24,28¢) (6,090
Other asset (4,687 (8,059 (13,28)) (8,660
Due to/from EMC, ne 23,04( (33,909 40,28t¢ (90,080
Accounts payabl (18,602) 14,34¢ (11,130 12,38
Accrued expense 11,34¢ 10,50¢ (3,95¢€) 11,46¢
Income taxes payable/receivable, (75,417 22,81 (97,009 37,50¢
Deferred income taxes, r 83,06: (16,03 46,71¢ (22,629
Deferred revenu 80,16 75,01¢ 168,32: 108,75!
Net cash provided by operating activit 150,63 85,63: 283,81 190,52¢
Cash flows from investing activities:
Additions to property and equipme (51,899 (32,339 (100,92) (48,919
Capitalized software development cc (12,770 (3,872 (15,939 (10,544
Purchase of lor-term investmen (2,750 — (1,750 —
Business acquisitions, net of cash acqu — (21,419 (33,289 (21,410
Decrease (increase) in restricted ¢ — (6,382) 89¢€ (5,699
Net cash used in investing activiti (65,419 (64,009 (150,999 (86,567
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from issuance of common si 109,65¢ — 133,32 —
Excess tax benefits from st-based compensatic 56,73t — 79,42: —
Shares repurchased for tax withholdings on vesifrrgstricted stoc (17,359 — (36,479 —
Net cash provided by financing activiti 149,03 — 176,27¢ —
Net increase in cash and cash equival 234,24¢ 21,62¢ 309,09: 103,96:
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the g 1,306,01. 258,46¢ 1,231,16! 176,13:
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the pi $1,540,26! $280,09t $1,540,261 $280,09¢
Non-cash items:
Changes in capital additions, accrued but not $ (6,919 $ — % 12,19 $ —

The accompanying notes are an integral part o€dmsolidated financial statements.
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VMWARE, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(unaudited)

A. Overview and Basis of Presentation
Company and Background

VMware, Inc. (“VMware” or the “Company”) is the ldang provider of virtual infrastructure softwardwgions from the desktop to the
datacenter. Our virtual infrastructure softwarauiiohs run on industry-standard desktops and semamd support a wide range of operating
system and application environments, as well asor&ing and storage infrastructures.

Accounting Principles

The financial statements and accompanying noteprapared in accordance with accounting princigkserally accepted in the United
States of America.

Unaudited Interim Financial Information

These accompanying unaudited consolidated finastagéments have been prepared pursuant to theamderegulations of the Securit
and Exchange Commission (the “SE®@J) interim financial reporting. These consolidafedncial statements are unaudited and, in theiop
of management, include all adjustments, consisifimgprmal recurring adjustments and accruals, fiairastatement of VMware’s consolidated
financial condition, results of operations and cfgivs for the periods presented. Results of of@natare not necessarily indicative of the
results that may be expected for the full year 2@tain information and footnote disclosuresagly included in annual consolidated
financial statements have been condensed or omaebrdingly, these unaudited interim consoliddiedncial statements should be read in
conjunction with the consolidated financial statetseand related notes included in the Company’s Z0thual Report on Form 10-K.

VMware historically has received, and continuessiteive, certain administrative services from EM@gdration (“EMC”),and VMware
and EMC engage in certain intercompany transactibine consolidated financial statements includesagp allocations for certain corporate
functions provided to VMware by EMC, including gealecorporate expenses. Additionally, certain ottwsts incurred by EMC for the direct
benefit of VMware, such as rent and salaries ametfits, have been included in VMware’s financiatstents. Management believes the
assumptions underlying the financial statementstaadbove allocations are reasonable. Howeveendivese intercompany transactions did
not arise from transactions negotiated at arm’gtlewith an unrelated third party, the financiatstments included herein may not necessarily
reflect financial condition, results of operaticarsd cash flows had VMware engaged in such tramsectvith an unrelated third party during
periods presented. Accordingly, historical resaft¥ Mware should not be relied upon as an indicafdahe future performance of VMware.
VMware’s future results of operations, which will incluctests and expenses for it to operate as an independmpany, including payment
EMC for administrative services provided to VMwargrsuant to a master transaction agreement anliaaypeigreements entered into with
EMC in connection with VMware’s initial public offiag (“IPO”) in August 2007, may be materially dgifent than VMware’s historical
financial position, results of operations and céahs.

Principles of Consolidatior

The consolidated financial statements include to®ants of VMware and its subsidiaries. All interquany transactions and balances
between VMware and its subsidiaries have been ditad. All intercompany transactions with EMC ie ttonsolidated statements of cash
flows are expected to be settled in cash and clsaingée intercompany balances are presented amponent of cash flows from operating
activities.

Use of Accounting Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conftymiith generally accepted accounting principlesuises management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the repartexiints of assets and liabilities, the reporteduantsoof revenues and expenses during the
reporting periods and the disclosure of contingessets and liabilities at the date of the finarsialements. Estimates are used for, but not
limited to, receivable valuation, useful lives ofdd assets, valuation of acquired intangiblespine taxes, stock-based compensation and
contingencies. Actual results could differ fromgbastimates.

New Accounting Pronouncemen

VMware adopted Financial Accounting Standards (“BHASAS No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements” (“FAS Nia7”) on January 1,
2008. FAS No. 157 defines fair value, establishesethodology for measuring fair value and expahds t

6
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VMWARE, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (conti nued)
(unaudited)

required disclosure for fair value measurementsFeruary 12, 2008, the Financial Accounting StaslBoard (“FASB”) issued FASB Staff
Position No. FAS 157-2, “Effective Date of FASB ®t@ment No. 157,” which delays the effective datéAS No. 157 by one year for non-
financial assets and non-financial liabilities, eptcfor items that are recognized or disclose@iatvilue in the financial statements on a
recurring basis (at least annually). Thereforejir@gg on January 1, 2008, this standard appliesp#ctively to new fair value measurements
of financial instruments and recurring fair valueasurements of non-financial assets and non-finhli@bilities. On January 1, 2009, the
beginning of the Company’s 2009 fiscal year, tlegard will also apply to all other fair value maasnents. VMware is currently evaluating
the potential impact of FAS No. 157 for non-final@ssets and non-financial liabilities on the Camys financial position and results of
operations. The adoption of FAS No. 157 for finaheissets and liabilities did not have an impacVbtware’s consolidated financial position
and results of operations. See Note D to VMwareissolidated financial statements.

In December 2007, the FASB issued FAS No. 141 ¢esl/R007), “Business Combinations” (“FAS No. 141Rhis statement establist
principles and requirements for how the acquirea business combination (i) recognizes and measuitsfinancial statements the
identifiable assets acquired, the liabilities assdrand any noncontrolling interest in the acqui(@erecognizes and measures the goodwill
acquired in the business combination or a gain fadmargain purchase and (iii) determines what médion to disclose to enable users of the
financial statements to evaluate the nature arahéial effects of the business combination. FASINA. (revised 2007) is effective for fiscal
years beginning after December 15, 2008. The impfattte standard on VMwa's financial position and results of operations Ww#ldepende
upon the number of and magnitude of acquisitioas éne consummated once the standard is effective.

In December 2007, the FASB issued FAS No. 160, ‘@éatrolling Interests in Consolidated FinancialtS&taents—an amendment of
ARB No. 51" (“FAS No. 160"). The objective of thigatement is to improve the relevance, comparglaht transparency of the financial
information that a reporting entity provides ind@nsolidated financial statements by establishitpunting and reporting standards for the
noncontrolling interest in a subsidiary and therefdeconsolidation of a subsidiary. FAS No. 166fisctive for fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2008. VMware does not expect the atdrtd have a material impact on the Company’sniiied position and results of
operations.

In April 2008, the FASB issued a FASB Staff Positan FAS No. 142-3, “Determination of the UsefuleLof Intangible Assets” (“FSP
FAS No. 142-3"). FSP FAS No. 142-3 amends the fadfoat should be considered in developing renewaktension assumptions used to
determine the useful life of a recognized intargifdset under FAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Otherrigible Assets” (“FAS No. 142"). The
intent of this FSP is to improve the consistendyvieen the useful life of a recognized intangiblseasinder FAS No. 142 and the period of
expected cash flows used to measure the fair \altlee asset under FAS No. 141 (revised 2007), ifRass Combinations’and other U.S.
generally accepted accounting principles. This BS#fective for financial statements issued fecéil years beginning after December 15,
2008, and interim periods within those fiscal ye&iglware is currently evaluating the potential iropaf FSP FAS No. 142-3 on the
Company'’s financial position and results of openadti

B. Significant Accounting Policies
Revenue Recognitio

VMware derives revenue from the licensing of sofevand related services. VMware recognizes revémusoftware products and
related services in accordance with the Americatitlite of Certified Public Accountants’ StatemehPosition (“SOP”) 97-2, “Software
Revenue Recognition,” as amended. VMware recogmeaenue when persuasive evidence of an arrangesrists, delivery has occurred, the
sales price is fixed or determinable and collelitibis probable.

The following summarizes the major terms of VMwaredntractual relationships with customers andrbaner in which VMware
accounts for sales transactions.

License revenu
VMware recognizes revenue from the sale of softwdren risk of loss transfers, which is generallpmglectronic shipment.

VMware licenses its software under perpetual liesrtirough its direct sales force and throughhigsael of distributors, resellers, x86
system vendors and systems integrators. VMwaresled@enue relating to products that have shipptediis channel until its products are s
through the channel. VMware obtains sell-throughrimation from distributors and certain resellensaomonthly basis. For VMwargchanne
partners who do not report sell-through data, VMx@determines sell-through based on payment of disttibutors’ and certain resellers’
accounts receivable balances and other relevatarfaé-or software sold by x86 system vendors amalled with their hardware, revenue is
recognized in arrears upon the receipt of bindoyalty reports.
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VMWARE, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (conti nued)
(unaudited)

For all sales, VMware uses a purchase order, adeEeagreement and a purchase order, or a mas¢emagnt and binding royalty repori
evidence of an arrangement. Sales through distnib@ind resellers are evidenced by a master licareement, together with purchase orders,
on a transaction-by-transaction basis.

The Company’s return policy does not allow end-sisereturn products for a refund. Certain distidlosi and resellers may rotate stock
when new versions of a product are released. VMwstienates future product returns at the time tef. $8Viware’s estimate is based on
historical return rates, levels of inventory helddistributors and resellers and other relevanfac

VMware offers rebates to certain of its channetrpens. When rebates are based on a set perceritageial sales, VMware recognizes
the cost of the rebates as a reduction of revewbes the underlying revenue is recognized. Wheatesbare earned only if a cumulative level
of sales is achieved, VMware recognizes the coit@febates as a reduction of revenues propoltydioa each sale that is required to achieve
the target.

VMware also offers marketing development fundg¢d¢ahannel partners. VMware records the cost ofrtaeketing development funds,
based on the maximum potential liability, as a ot of revenues at the time the underlying reeeisurecognized.

Services revenue

Services revenue consists of software maintenamt@eofessional services. VMware recognizes madartea revenues ratably over the
contract period. Professional services includegtesmplementation and training. Professional sswiare not considered essential to the
functionality of VMware’s products as these serside not alter the product capabilities and mapédréormed by customers or other vendors.
Professional services engagements that have dusadf®®0 days or less are recognized as revenueagropletion of the engagement.
Professional services engagements of more tham@9dfdr which VMware is able to make reasonablyethelable estimates of progress toward
completion are recognized on a proportional perforoe basis based upon the hours incurred. Revenak ather professional services
engagements is recognized upon completion.

Multiple element arrangemen

VMware's software products are typically sold wittaintenance and/or professional services. Vendecisp objective evidence
(“VSOE") of fair value for professional services is basedruihe standard rates VMware charges for suchceswihen sold separately. VS
of fair value for maintenance services is establishy the rates charged in stand-alone sales aftem@ince contracts or the stated renewal rate
for maintenance included in the license agreeniédrg.revenues allocated to the software licenseided in multiple element contracts
represent the residual amount of the contract #feefair value of the other elements has beerrméted.

Customers under maintenance agreements are emdittedeive updates and upgrades on a when-angilale basis. In the event an
upgrade or new product has been announced buetieeckd, and customers will receive that upgradeesv product as part of a current
maintenance contract, product revenues are deferrgadirchases made after the announcement datelelintery of the upgrade or new
product. The amount and elements to be deferredegrendent on whether the company has establisB&E\Of fair value for the upgrade or
new product. VSOE of fair value of these upgradesesv products is established based upon the pethy management. VMware has a
history of selling these upgrades or new produnta stand-alone basis.

Deferred revenue includes unearned maintenancefdesgssional services fees and license fees.

Research and Development and Capitalized Softwaey&opment Cosi

Costs incurred in the research and developmenewfgoftware products are expensed as incurredteotihological feasibility is
established. Technological feasibility is definadlze earlier of the completion of a detailed pangidesign or a working model. Such costs
include salaries and benefits, including stock-dasampensation, consultants, facilities-relateds;euipment costs and depreciation.
Software development costs incurred subsequerstablkéshing technological feasibility through thengral release of the software products
capitalized. Upon general release of the produetgsitalized costs are amortized over periods ranfyjom 18 to 24 months, which represent
products’ estimated useful lives.
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VMWARE, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (conti nued)
(unaudited)

Unamortized software development costs were $51lBmand $66.8 million at June 30, 2008 and Deben81, 2007, respectively, a
are included in other assets, net.

In the three months ended June 30, 2008 and 20@wave capitalized $14.8 million (including $3.0 tiwh of stock-based
compensation) and $4.4 million (including $0.5 roill of stock-based compensation), respectivelgosts incurred for the development of
software products. In the six months ended Jun@@08 and 2007, VMware capitalized $19.9 milliomc{uding $3.9 million of stock-based
compensation) and $12.0 million (including $1.5lioi of stock-based compensation), respectivelygasts incurred for the development of
software products. Amortization expense from cédipied amounts was $14.3 million and $8.7 milliorttie three months ended June 30, 2008
and 2007, respectively. Amortization expense frapitalized amounts was $29.1 million and $16.7ianilin the six months ended June 30,
2008 and 2007, respectively.

Long-Lived Assets

Intangible assets, other than goodwill, are amexdtiaver their estimated useful lives which rangenfone to nine years. In the three
months ended June 30, 2008 and 2007, VMware aradr$i3.8 million and $6.3 million, respectively, faurchased intangible assets. The
amortization expense for the six months ended 30n2008 and 2007 was $7.7 million and $12.6 nmilliespectively.

VMware reviews long-lived assets for impairmentagtordance with FAS No. 144 “Accounting for Impaémb or Disposal of Long-
Lived Assets.” VMware initiates reviews for impaiemt whenever events or changes in business cirangest indicate that the carrying
amounts of the assets may not be fully recoveraibteat the useful lives of these assets are ngeloappropriate. Each impairment test is b
on a comparison of the undiscounted cash flowkead¢corded value of the asset. If impairmentdéceted, the asset is written down to its
estimated fair value. To date, no such impairmestieen identified.

Goodwill is carried at its historical cost. VMwatests goodwill for impairment in accordance with$No. 142 “Goodwill and Other
Intangible Assets,” in the fourth quarter of eaelaiyor more frequently if events or changes inutirstances indicate that the asset might be
impaired. To date, there have been no impairmdrgeadwill or other intangible assets.

Comprehensive Income
Comprehensive income is equal to net income.

C. Net Income per Share

Basic net income per share is computed by dividieigincome by the weighted-average number of comshanes outstanding during the
period. For purposes of computing basic net incpereshare, the weighted-average number of outstgratiares of common stock excludes
potentially dilutive securities. Diluted net incomper share is computed by dividing net income Bmieighted-average number of common
shares outstanding and potentially dilutive semgibutstanding during the period. Potentially tillel securities include stock options, unves
restricted stock units, unvested restricted stochkrds and other unvested restricted stock, usiadréasury stock method. Securities are
excluded from the computations of diluted net inegmer share if their effect would be anti-dilutives of June 30, 2008, VMware had
86.2 million shares of Class A common stock and @ddillion shares of Class B common stock outstagdiat were included in the
calculation of basic earnings per share. For pwpo$ calculating earnings per share, VMware useswo<lass method. As both classes sl
the same rights in dividends, basic and dilutediags per share are the same for both classes.

9
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VMWARE, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (conti nued)
(unaudited)

The following table sets forth the computationdasic and diluted net income per share (in thousastept per share data):

For the Three Months Ended For the Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30,
2008 2007 2008 2007
Net income $ 5233 $ 34,22¢ $ 95397 $ 75,30¢
Weightec-average shares, basic for Class A and Cla 382,93: 332,50( 381,97¢ 332,50(
Effect of dilutive securitie 16,04¢ 1 16,28: 1
Weightec-average shares, diluted for Class A and Cla 398,97¢ 332,50: 398,25¢ 332,50:

Net income per weight-average share, basic for Class A and Cla $ 014 $ 01C $ 028 $ 0.2
Net income per weight-average share, diluted for Class Aand Cla  $ 0.1z % 01C $ 024 $ 0.2t

For the three and six months ended June 30, 268 sptions to acquire 4.5 million and 4.3 millishares, respectively, of VMware
Class A common stock were excluded from the dil@aahings per share calculations because theuteffeuld have been andifutive. For the
three and six months ended June 30, 2007, stoaknspb acquire 35.7 million shares of VMware Classommon stock were excluded from
the diluted earnings per share calculations bectdugseeffect would have been anti-dilutive.

D. Fair Value Measurements

FAS No. 157 clarifies that fair value is an exiicp; representing the amount that would be recetvesgll an asset or paid to transfer a
liability in an orderly transaction between margatticipants. As such, fair value is a market-basedsurement that should be determined
based on assumptions that market participants wasddn pricing an asset or liability. As a basisdonsidering such assumptions, FAS
No. 157 establishes a th-tier value hierarchy, which prioritizes the inputsed in measuring fair value as follows: (Levebb¥ervable inputs
such as quoted prices in active markets; (Levatf@)ts other than the quoted prices in active marlteat are observable either directly or
indirectly; and (Level 3) unobservable inputs inieththere is little or no market data, which reggivMware to develop its own assumptions.
This hierarchy requires VMware to use observableketadata, when available, and to minimize theafsgnobservable inputs when
determining fair value.

VMware’s cash and cash equivalents as of June 30, 20@83465 billion and included $1.0 billion of monewrket securities, which a
classified within Level 1 of the fair value hierhycbecause the securities are valued using quotesspn active markets for identical assets.
There were no other financial assets or liabilitasied at fair value as of June 30, 2008.

E. Business Acquisitions, Goodwill and Intangible Asets
Business Acquisition:

VMware acquired two companies during the first ledl2008 for aggregate cash consideration of $88lBn, net of cash acquired and
including transaction costs. The acquisitions werematerial, neither individually nor in the agga¢e. Acquired intangibles totaled $9.4
million and have estimated useful lives of betwear and eight years. The excess of the purchase @ver the fair value of the net assets
acquired was $38.6 million and is classified asdyath on the consolidated balance sheet as of 30&008.

The purchase price for the companies acquireddritst half of 2008 has been allocated to thetasssquired and the liabilities assumed
based on estimated fair values as of the respeatigeisition dates. The purchase price allocatimagreliminary and may be adjusted. A final
determination of required purchase accounting aatiests will be made upon finalization of integrat@activities and resolution of certain tax
contingencies. The results of operations of theimed companies have been included in the Comgasgnsolidated results from the respec
closing dates forward.
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On May 28, 2008, VMware announced a definitive agrent to acquire a privately-held application penfance management software
company. On July 1, 2008, the Company announcedttbampleted this acquisition. See Note N to VMeia consolidated financial
statements.

Pro forma results of operations have not been pteddor the aforementioned acquisitions as theltesf the acquired companies, eit
individually or in the aggregate, were not matetdelhe Company’s consolidated results of operation

Goodwill

Changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for silemonths ended June 30, 2008 consist of thevitlip (table in thousands):

Balance, January 1, 20! $639,36¢
Goodwill acquirec 38,57
Adjustments to purchase price allocatit 6,39
Balance, June 30, 20! $684,33!

As of June 30, 2008, $519.2 million of goodwill sisted of EMC's purchase accounting for VMware.

F. Property and Equipment, net
Property and equipment, net, as of June 30, 200®a&cember 31, 2007 consist of the following (tablehousands):

December 31

June 30,

2008 2007

Furniture and fixture $ 42,16 $ 30,67¢
Equipment and softwal 237,39¢ 156,64
Buildings and improvemen 177,14¢ 129,75:
Construction in progres 5,162 32,09
461,87 349,16¢
Accumulated depreciatic (112,02) (72,185
$ 349,85! $ 276,98

Depreciation expense was $21.4 million and $40lliamifor the three and six months ended June BOB2respectively, and $8.6 millii
and $15.5 million for the three and six months ehdiene 30, 2007, respectively.

During the second quarter of 2008, VMware reviewnd revised the estimated useful lives of certagets after considering (i) the
estimated future benefits the Company expectsdeive from those assets, (ii) the pattern of contion of those benefits and (iii) the
information available regarding those benefits. Vllerincreased the estimated useful lives of compuated other related equipment, which
had carrying values of $42.6 million and $17.4 ioil| respectively, as of March 31, 2008, from 2rgea 3 years to match the length of the
related warranty contracts. These changes in etgtéeill be accounted for prospectively. These dgearin estimates reduced depreciation
expense by $4.8 million and increased both basicdiinted earnings per share by $0.01 from whatldvbave been reported otherwise in the
second quarter of 2008.

G. Accrued Expenses
Accrued expenses as of June 30, 2008 and Decerhb20@7 consist of (table in thousands):

December 31

June 30,
2008 2007
Salaries, commissions, and bene $ 91,09t $ 93,67¢
Accrued partner liabilitie 49,58¢ 42,85:
Other 30,60: 37,08(

$171,28! $ 173,61
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H. Income Taxes

Although VMware files a federal consolidated tatura with EMC, the Company has calculated its inedax provision on a stand-alone
basis. The Company’s effective tax rate in thequiripresented is the result of the mix of inconmraexzhin various tax jurisdictions that apply a
broad range of income tax rates. The provisionirfoome taxes differs from the tax computed at tt. federal statutory income tax rate due
primarily to earnings considered as indefinitelyvested in foreign operations.

VMware’s effective income tax rate was 18.4% and % for the three and six months ended June 3@,2@8pectively. The effective
income tax rate was 17.6% and 17.2% for the thnelesix months ended June 30, 2007, respectively.iftrease in the effective rate for the
three months ended June 30, 2008 compared torbe tonths ended June 30, 2007 was primarily atafile to the expiration of the federal
research tax credit, an increase in other non-déd@@ermanent differences and an increase irsteapricing adjustments relative to the
Company’s forecasted annual pre-tax income. Thegeases in the effective tax rate were largelyatfby the tax benefit resulting from a
change in the mix of income from U.S. sources terimational sources. Income earned abroad is cemegldndefinitely reinvested in the
Company'’s foreign operations and no provision foB.Uaxes has been provided. The effective tas fatethe six months ended June 30, 2008
and June 30, 2007 were essentially the same a#61ant 17.2%, respectively. VMware derived a taxefieresulting from a change in the mix
of income from U.S. sources to international sosirdénis tax benefit, which decreased the effedtixerate, was largely offset by the increases
in the effective tax rate primarily attributablette expiration of the federal research tax creditincrease in other non-deductible permanent
differences and an increase in transfer pricingsgtdjents relative to the Company’s forecasted drpraaax income. Income earned abroad is
considered indefinitely reinvested in the Comparfigieign operations and no provision for U.S. talkas been provided.

As of June 30, 2008, VMware had $28.0 million adgp unrecognized tax benefits and $26.1 millionroEcognized tax benefits, net of
federal tax benefit. The gross and net unrecogrteetenefits included interest and penalties a® $dillion and $0.7 million respectively. Tl
Company reports interest and penalties relatesitecognized tax benefits in income tax expengéelftotal amount of net unrecognized tax
benefits had been recognized, $7.6 million wouldehaeen recorded to goodwill and the remaining %$i@llion would have adjusted the
Company'’s effective tax rate. The $26.1 milliomet unrecognized tax benefits are not expectee fmalid within the next 12 months and were
classified in non-current income taxes payable. \Avevdoes not expect significant changes to itsoagized tax benefits within the next 12
months.

As of June 30, 2008, the Company had a net incameeteivable of $99.6 million, which was princigatomprised of amounts due frt
EMC; however, this amount was net of approxima$aly® million of current income taxes payable duganous governmental authorities. 1
receivable arose because the Company had a stameltalkable loss for the six months ended Jun2@IB, which was primarily attributable
to tax deductions arising from both non-qualifiéolck option exercises and from restricted stockmithe restrictions lapse. Under the tax
sharing agreement with EMC, EMC is obligated to fsayMware an amount equal to the tax benefit EMC will recognize on its
consolidated tax return.

[. 401(k) Plan

Prior to March 2008, VMware employees patrticipatethe EMC Corporation 401(k) Savings Plan (the ‘EMlan”), and EMC cross-
charged the Company for the costs associated withvate employees who participated in the EMC Plan.

In 2008, VMware established a defined contributietirement savings program, the VMware Inc. 40B#&yings Plan (the “VMware
Plan”), which is qualified under Section 401(K)tleé Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (the “Code&hjis plan is available solely to employee:
VMware. In March 2008, VMware employees began pgdting in the VMware Plan and ceased participatiothe EMC Plan. In March
2008, $96.4 million of assets and $1.1 million aftitipant loans were transferred from the EMC Rtdo the VMware Plan.

VMware matches pre-tax employee contributions u@oof eligible compensation during each pay pe(fdbject to a $750 maximum
match each quarter). Matching contributions are @diaitely 100% vested. During the three and six moehded June 30, 2008, VMware
contributions for employees were $2.3 million add3$million, respectively. Employees may electrteast their contributions in a variety of
funds. The Company’s matching contribution mirrbrs investment allocation of the employee’s comuititn.

J. Commitments and Contingencies
Litigation

VMware is named from time to time as a party todaits in the normal course of its business. In suades it is the Company’s policy to
defend against such claims, or if considered apfatey negotiate a settlement on commercially
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reasonable terms. While the outcome of these nsat@urrently not determinable, based on curremtbilable information, the Company does
not expect that the ultimate costs to resolve thestters will have a material adverse effect onGbepany. However, no assurance can be
given that the Company will be able to negotiatesments on commercially reasonable terms, ol abrthat any litigation resulting from
such claims would not have a material adverse effiethe Company’s consolidated financial positiaqyidity, operating results, or
consolidated financial statements taken as a whole.

Operating Lease Commitments

VMware leases office facilities and equipment undsious operating leases. Facility leases generatlude renewal options. VMware’
future lease commitments at June 30, 2008 arellasvfo(table in thousands):

Remainder of 200 $ 14,22¢
2009 29,12:
2010 28,26
2011 26,11
2012 16,36
Thereaftel 294,93
Total minimum lease paymer $409,01:

The amount of the future lease commitments aft&é228 primarily for the ground lease on the CompsiRalo Alto, California
headquarters facilities, which expires in 2057 sAgeral of VMware’s operating leases are payabler&ign currencies, the amount of
operating lease commitments may fluctuate in respda changes in the exchange rate between theltll&: and the foreign currencies in
which the commitments are payable.

K. Stockholders’ Equity
VMware Stock Purchase Plan

In June 2007, VMware adopted its 2007 EmployeelSRagchase Plan (the “ESPP”) that is intended tquadified under Section 423 of
the Code. A total of 6.4 million shares of VMwarkags A common stock were reserved for issuancerthdeESPP. Under the ESPP, eligible
VMware employees are granted options to purchaaeestat the lower of 85% of the fair market valtithe stock at the time of grant or 85%
of the fair market value at the time of exercispti@ns to purchase shares were first granted uh@éeESPP on August 13, 2007, the date on
which VMware’s Form S-1 Registration Statement waslared effective by the SEC, and became exeteissbDecember 31, 2007.
Thereafter, options to purchase shares will betgtatwice yearly, on or about January 1 and Jubnd, will be exercisable on or about the
succeeding June 30 or December 31, respectively.

For the purchase period ended December 31, 2003 pgees purchased 0.6 million shares under the ESBPurchase price per share
of $24.65. This purchase period was completednnidiy 2008. For the purchase period ended Jun20B@, employees purchased 0.4 million
shares under the ESPP at a purchase price percft$48.78. This purchase period was completediire 2008.

VMware Stock Options
The following table summarizes option activity sntanuary 1, 2008 for VMware stock options (sharg¢lsousands):

Number of Weighted-

Average
Shares Exercise Price
Outstanding, January 1, 20 45,33¢ $  26.7¢
Granted 3,68( 58.3¢
Forfeited (755) 36.7¢
Expired Q) 24.2¢
Exercisec (4,589 21.4¢
Outstanding, June 30, 20 43,68( 29.71

Total cash proceeds from the exercise of stoclonptfor the six months ended June 30, 2008 wered$allion. The options exercised
during the six months ended June 30, 2008 had-tagratrinsic value of $192.3 million.
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VMware Restricted Stock

VMware restricted stock includes restricted stoslamls, restricted stock units and other restristedk. Other restricted stock includes
options exercised by non-employee directors thaewequired to be exercised within one year of giiaut are subject to a three-year vesting
provision. The exercise of those options priorégting results in the outstanding shares beingestitj repurchase and hence restricted until
such time as the respective options vest.

The following table summarizes restricted stockvagtsince January 1, 2008 for VMware restrictéolck (shares in thousands):

Weighted-

Average
Number of Grant Date

Shares Fair Value
Restricted stock at January 1, 2( 3,56¢ $ 24.6¢
Granted 54C 64.8¢
Vested (1,709 22.2
Forfeited 9 22.0¢
Restricted stock at June 30, 2( 2,392 35.4(

As of June 30, 2008, the aggregate intrinsic vafuéMware restricted stock was $127.0 million. Teehares are scheduled to vest
through 2012.

Shares Repurchased for Tax Withholdin

During the three months ended June 30, 2008, VMweperchased 283,839 shares of Class A common,stwck18.9 million to cover
employee tax withholding obligations. Pursuanti® tespective agreements, these shares were rapactim conjunction with the net share
settlement upon the vesting of restricted stocknduthe quarter. The $18.9 million is recorded asdaction to retained earnings as of June 30,
2008.

Stock-Based Compensation Expense

The following table summarizes the components @&l tstock-based compensation expense included iwafd's consolidated income
statements for the three and six months ended3wr&008 and 2007 (table in thousands):

For the Three Months Ended For the Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30,
2008 2007 2008 2007
Cost of license revenui $ 27¢  $ 74 % 53¢ $ 11C
Cost of services revenu 3,79 91¢ 7,05¢€ 1,41:
Research and developmt 19,47¢ 8,252 40,57¢ 14,64+
Sales and marketir 11,69¢ 4,24( 23,00( 7,18¢
General and administrati\ 6,82: 2,48¢ 13,06: 4,26¢€
Stock-based compensation expel $ 4207. $ 15977 $ 84,23: $ 27,61

For the three and six months ended June 30, 2008yare capitalized $3.0 million and $3.9 millionspectively, of stock-based
compensation expense associated with capitalizédae development. For the three and six montldedrdune 30, 2008, VMware capitali.
an additional $0.3 million and $0.8 million, respeely, of stock-based compensation expense agsocigith software developed for internal
use.

For the three and six months ended June 30, 20WWare capitalized $0.5 million and $1.5 millionspectively, of stock-based
compensation expense associated with capitaliZédae development.
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Fair Value of VMware Options

The fair value of each option to acquire VMwaressld common stock granted during the three andhsinths ended June 30, 2008 and
2007 is estimated on the date of grant using tlaekB5choles option-pricing model with the followingighted-average assumptions:

For the Three For the Six
Months Ended Months Ended
June 30, June 30,

VMware Stock Option: 2008 2007 2008 2007
Dividend yield None None None None
Expected volatility 37.€% 39.2% 37.%% 39.2%
Risk-free interest rat 2.6% 5.C% 2.4% 5.C%
Expected term (in year 34 3.4 3.4 3.4
Weightec-average fair value at grant di $18.37 $ 7.97 $17.6¢ $ 7.97

No options were granted under the ESPP duringhifee tmonths ended June 30, 2008 and 2007 andxtheosihs ended June 30, 2007.
Options to purchase shares under the ESPP wetrgriinsted on August 13, 2007 with subsequent gr@amtianuary 1, 2008 and July 1,
2008. The weighted-average fair value of optiormtgd under the ESPP during the six months endesl 3, 2008 was $22.10 and was
estimated using the Black-Scholes pricing modeh e following assumptions: dividend yield of O&&pected volatility of 37.3%; risk free
interest rate of 3.4% and expected term of 0.5syear

For all options granted in the three and six moetided June 30, 2008 and the three months endedB0u2007, volatility was based on
an analysis of historical and implied volatility pfiblicly-traded companies with similar charactiess including industry, size and financial
leverage. The expected term was calculated bas#tkedmistorical experience that VMware employeeshsad with EMC stock option grants
as well as the expected term of similar grantsoofigarable companies. The risk-free interest rateh@sed on a treasury instrument whose
term is consistent with the expected life of thecktoptions.

L. Related Party Transactions

VMware recognized professional services revenu&3d million and $7.1 million, for services proeiito EMC5 customers pursuant
VMware’s contractual agreements with EMC for theethand six months ended June 30, 2008, respactiilware recognized $1.9 million
and $6.0 million of professional services reverfues such contractual arrangements with EMC forttiree and six months ended June 30,
2007.

VMware recognized revenues from server and degitogucts and services purchased by EMC for intarsalof $3.6 million for both
the three and six months ended June 30, 2008, gnirtu the Company'’s contractual agreements witlfCERMs of June 30, 2008, $2.3 million
of revenues from server and desktop products amvites purchased by EMC for internal use were idetlin deferred revenue.

VMware purchased storage systems from EMC for $6lllon, $3.1 million, $15.7 million and $3.6 midin, in the three months ended
June 30, 2008 and 2007, and the six months ended31)y 2008 and 2007, respectively. Through thre tpiarter of 2007, the systems
purchases from EMC were at EMC's cost. Since thetfoquarter of 2007, the systems purchases fror@ Bk at a discount off of EMC's list
price.

For certain corporate functions provided by EMCA%aillion and $4.7 million of expenses were ali@chto VMware by EMC in the
three and six months ended June 30, 2007, respBctin the three and six months ended June 3(8,2b@se amounts were not significant.

In certain geographic regions where VMware doeshagt an established legal entity, the Companyraotst with EMC subsidiaries for
support services and EMC employees who are manag¥#iware personnel. The costs incurred by EMC diwvare’s behalf related to the
employees were included as expenses in VMwaregiiial statements. These costs include expensealfoies and benefits, travel, rent,
insurance and service fees. The total of these othsts were $35.4 million and $74.8 million in theee and six months ended June 30, 2008,
respectively, and $24.5 million and $50.4 millienthe three and six months ended June 30, 20Q¥cteely.

As part of VMware’s tax sharing agreement, VMwaagd@EMC the sum of $62.3 million for VMware’s panti of their consolidated
federal income taxes in the three months ended IMat¢ 2008, and no payments were made in the thogghs ended June 30, 2008. This
amount differed from the amounts owed on a standeabasis and the differences are
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presented as a component of stockholders’ equitthd three and six months ended June 30, 200djffeeences between the amount of tax
calculated on a stand-alone basis and the amouax @flculated per the tax sharing agreement vem@rded as decreases in stockholders’
equity of $4.9 million and $11.4 million, respediy. In the three and six months ended June 3,206 difference was not significant.

As of June 30, 2008, the Company had a net incameeteivable of $99.6 million, which was princigatomprised of amounts due frt
EMC; however, this amount was net of approxima$aly® million of current income taxes payable duganous governmental authorities. 1
receivable arose because the Company had a stamel{alkable loss for the six months ended Jun2@IB, which was primarily attributable
to tax deductions arising from both non-qualifiéolck option exercises and from restricted stocknertiee restrictions lapsed. Under the tax
sharing agreement with EMC, EMC is obligated to fsayMware an amount equal to the tax benefit EMC will recognize on its
consolidated tax return.

Interest expense with EMC, net, consists of integgpense on a note payable to EMC, offset by éisteéncome that has been earned on
VMware’s intercompany balance with EMC. In the #¢araonths ended June 30, 2008, $3.7 million of @sieexpense was recorded related to a
note payable with EMC and was included in the $8il6on interest expense with EMC, net, recordedtoa consolidated income statement. In
the six months ended June 30, 2008, $9.7 milliomtefest expense was recorded related to a ngtbfawith EMC and was included in the
$9.4 million interest expense with EMC, net, reemt@n the consolidated income statement. In treethnd six months ended June 30, 2007,
VMware incurred $7.8 million and $6.5 million, resgively, of interest expense with EMC, net. VMwariaterest income and VMware’s
expenses as a separate, stand-alone company rhighee or lower than the amounts reflected in tharfcial statements.

In the three months ended June 30, 2008, VMwareEaM@ resolved certain acquisition-related intercampliabilities due to EMC
which resulted from EMC'’s acquisition of VMware. Agesult, intercompany liabilities due to EMC &% million were eliminated and
recorded as an increase in additional paid-in abpithout the issuance of additional equity by Vihe or remittance of any cash.

Prior to March 2008, VMware employees patrticipatethe EMC’s 401(k) Plan, and EMC croskarged VMware for the costs associi
with VMware employees who participated in the EMI@rP In March 2008, VMware employees began padiiig in the VMware’s 401(k)
Plan and ceased participation in the EMC Plan.\8®e | to VMware’s consolidated financial statengent

M. Segment Information

VMware operates in one reportable segment in aecmel with the provisions of FAS No. 131 “Disclosuabout Segments of an
Enterprise and Related Information” (“FAS No. 13NMMware operates in one segment, therefore all firdrsegment information required
FAS No. 131 can be found in the consolidated firdrstatements.

Revenues by geographic area are as follows (takiteousands):

For the Three Months Ended For the Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30,
2008 2007 2008 2007
United State! $ 239,90t $ 168,04¢ $465,08. $ 304,49:
International 216,22 128,77 429,22. 251,02¢
Total $ 456,12( $ 296,82 $894,300 $ 555,52(

Long-lived assets, which include property and emu@pt, net, and other assets, net, excluding ce@thtoftware and financial
instruments, in the United States at June 30, 20@8December 31, 2007, were $269.0 million and #8#llion, respectively. Long-lived
assets internationally at June 30, 2008 and Dece®1h007 were $43.4 million and $22.8 millionspectively. No country other than the
United States accounted for 10% or more of thesetast June 30, 2008 or December 31, 2007.

N. Subsequent Events

In May 2008, VMware announced a definitive agreentemcquire a privately-held application performamanagement software
company. In July 2008, the Company announced tlahipleted this acquisition. VMware does not explee acquisition to have a material
impact on the Company’s financial position and Hssof operations.

In July 2008, VMware's Board of Directors had apmd a proposal to exchange certain employee stptidrs issued under VMware's
2007 Equity and Incentive Plan. The proposal igexntlio approval by the Company’s stockholder§/Nfware stockholders approve the
exchange program, VMware employees in the UniteteSt(other than executive officers) will be eligitb exchange stock options issued
between September 1, 2007 and August 1, 2008,exgfcise prices that exceed the market price ostmak on the date the exchange offer
concludes for new, lower-priced stock options tglented on a one-for-one share basis under toisagge program. The exercise price of the
new options will be the price of VMware Class A agoon stock at the close of trading on the New Yddck Exchange on the day
immediately following the date that the exchangedsipleted. Options exchanged under the propodlalegt over a four-year period from the
date of the exchange offer with no credit for peestting and will have a new six-year option term.
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Item 2. MANAGEMENT 'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AN D RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

This Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Firer@ondition and Results of Operations (“MD&A”) shld be read in conjunction
with our interim consolidated financial statemeatsl notes thereto which appear elsewhere in thiar@dy Report on Form 10-Q.

This section and other parts of this Quarterly Repo Form 10-Q contain forward-looking statementihin the meaning of the federal
securities laws, about our business and prospEegsforward-looking statements do not include theeptial impact of any mergers,
acquisitions, divestitures, securities offeringbosiness combinations or other developments irbosiness that may be announced or
consummated after the date hereof. Any statememtainied herein that are not statements of histbféct may be deemed to be forward-
looking statements. Without limiting the foregoirtige words “outlook,” “believes,” “plans,” “intends‘expects,” “goals,” “potential,”
“continues,” “may,” “will,” “should,” “seeks,” “prelicts,” “estimates,” “anticipates” and similar eggsions are intended to identify forward-
looking statements, although not all forward-logkstatements contain these words. Our future emdtly differ materially from our past
results and from those projected in the forwlmmking statements due to various uncertaintiesraskd, including those described in Item 1/
Part Il (Risk Factors). The forwatdeking statements speak only as of the date ef@iarterly Report and undue reliance should nqideec
on these statements. We disclaim any obligatiarpttate any forward-looking statements containediheafter the date of this Quarterly
Report.

”u LI ”

All dollar amounts expressed as numbers in this MD& (except per share amounts) are in millions.
Certain tables may not add due to rounding.

Overview

Our primary source of revenue is the licensingidfial infrastructure software solutions and reteseipport and services through a
variety of distribution channels for use by bussessand organizations of all sizes and across ruséndustries in their information
technology infrastructure. Our virtual infrastruesoftware solutions run on indusstandard desktops and servers and support a wide &
operating system and application environments,elkas networking and storage infrastructures. \AAeetdeveloped a multi-channel
distribution model to expand our presence anddolrerarious segments of the industry. In the seqomadter and first half of 2008 we derived
over 75% of our revenues from our channel partveing;h include distributors, resellers, x86 systemasdors and system integrators. We have
also developed a network of nearly 17,000 indiobetnnel partners who fulfill orders through ouredirchannel partners. A majority of our
revenues result from contracts that include botpgteal software licenses and ongoing software teaance contracts. License revenues are
recognized when the elements of revenue recogratiertomplete. Maintenance revenues are recogrataily over the term of the
maintenance period, and include renewals of maamtea sold after the initial maintenance period egiWe also recognize revenues from
professional services provided to our customers.

We have achieved significant revenue growth to gtebcusing on delivering new virtual infrastrucsoftware solutions technology
and products, expanding our network of technolagy distribution partners, increasing product awassnpromoting the adoption of
virtualization and building long-term relationshiwih our customers through the adoption of entseplicense agreements (“ELAS”).

In the near-term, we expect to continue our revegoesth by broadening our virtual infrastructurdtaare solutions technology and
product portfolio for more uses to more users. \igtioue to see strong upward momentum in our cHgraréner transaction business and in
the acquisition of new customers. However, at thet @& the second quarter of 2008, we observedcistbmers are subjecting large ELAs to a
longer review process and in certain cases arelidgcio only purchase products to meet shorter-tegeds, which we believe is primarily
correlated to the recent global economic uncestaifthis was especially noticeable in the U.S. Wgeex to see this trend continue throughout
2008.

Although we believe it is important that, as wewraur sales, we continue to invest in our corponafi@structure, including customer
support, information technology and general andiathtnative functions, we expect our operating exges to grow at a slower pace due to an
anticipated decrease in hiring. We believe thaitgguocentives tied directly to the performancevdware help us compete for top-level
engineering and other talent and will continuertgply them as important tools to attract, retaid mtentivize employees. We also intend to
continue to invest in hardware, networking andwgafe tools to increase the efficiency of our reske@nd development efforts.

Our current financial focus is on sustaining owergaue growth to generate cash flows to fund ouaegjwn of industry segment share
our virtual infrastructure solutions. Although we @urrently the leading provider of virtual infragture solutions, we believe the use of
virtual infrastructure solutions is at very eartgges by customers. We expect to face
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competitive threats to our leadership from a nundfeompanies, some of which may have significagtlyater resources than we do. As a
result, we believe it is important to continuertwast in strategic initiatives related to prodwedearch and development and associated suppor
functions to maintain or expand our leadershiproviging virtual infrastructure solutions. This Estment could result in contracting operating
margins as we invest in our future. We believe thatwill be able to continue to fund our productelepment through operating cash flows as
we continue to sell our existing products and s@wi We believe this is the right priority for flie@g-term health of our business.

In evaluating our results, we also focus on opegathargin excluding stock-based compensation, eyepl@axes on employee stock
transactions, amortization of intangible assessythite-off of in-process research and developmdr@n applicable and the net effect of the
amortization and capitalization of software devebemt costs. A portion of our services revenuesgésgnized in periods of up to five years
subsequent to the initial contract, whereas mostiolicense revenues are recognized within tis djuarter of contract signing. As a result,
variability in operating margin can result fromfdifences in when we price our service and whermadiseis incurred. Substantially all of our
international revenues are for contracts in U.8adoto international channel partners. A portidrour operating expenses is in currencies
other than the U.S. dollar. This difference mayseawariability in operating margins due to fluctaas in the U.S. dollar compared to other
currencies. We are not currently focused on stemtoperating margin expansion, but rather on itivg®t appropriate rates to support our
growth and future product offerings in what mayabsubstantially more competitive environment; assallt, our operating margins may
decline from current levels.

Prior to our initial public offering (“IPQ”) in Augst 2007, we were a wholly-owned subsidiary of ERI@poration (“EMC”),and as suc
we relied on EMC to provide a number of administesupport services and facilities in other cowstrAlthough we continue to operate
under an administrative services agreement andneento receive support from EMC, we expect our iaistrative costs to continue to
increase. We continue to invest in expanding oun administrative functions, including our finanéegal and human resources functions,
which may be at a higher cost than the comparabigces provided by EMC. We are incurring additioests as a public company, including
audit, investor relations, expanded informationeys, stock administration and regulatory compkaomsts.

Our Relationship with EMC

As of June 30, 2008, EMC owned 26,500,000 shar€ass A common stock and all 300,000,000 shar€dass B common stock,
representing approximately 84% of our total outdiiag shares of common stock and 98% of the combio&idg power of our outstanding
common stock.

We recognized professional service revenues of &3d8$7.1, respectively, for services provided MEs customers pursuant to our
contractual agreements with EMC in the second quartd first half of 2008. We recognized $1.9 a6d ®f professional services revenues
from such contractual arrangements with EMC ingbeond quarter and first half of 2007.

We recognized revenues from server and desktopptednd services purchased by EMC for internabfi$s.6 for both the second
quarter and first half of 2008, pursuant to ourtcactual agreements with EMC. As of June 30, 28283 of revenues from server and desktop
products and services purchased by EMC for intarsalwas included in deferred revenue.

We purchased storage systems from EMC for $6.1, $35.7 and $3.6, in the second quarter of 2008807, and first halves of 2008
and 2007, respectively. Through the third quart&20®7, the systems purchases from EMC were at EMGSt. Since the fourth quarter of
2007, the systems purchases from EMC are at autisodf of EMC’s list price.

For certain corporate functions provided by EMCA%nd $4.7 of expenses were allocated to us by EMEe second quarter and first
half of 2007, respectively. In the second quartet first half of 2008, these amounts were not S$icgmt.

In certain geographic regions where we do not lzavestablished legal entity, we contract with EM®Bsidiaries for support services ¢
EMC employees who are managed by our personnelc@sts incurred by EMC on our behalf related teéhemployees were included as
expenses in our financial statements. These codisdie expenses for salaries and benefits, treem, insurance and service fees. The total of
these other costs were $35.4 and $74.8 in the demaoarter and first half of 2008, respectively, &24.5 and $50.4 in the second quarter and
first half of 2007, respectively.

As part of our tax sharing agreement, we paid ERECsum of $62.3 for our portion of their consolathfederal income taxes in the first
guarter of 2008 and no payments were made in tensequarter of 2008. These amounts differed floenamounts owed on a stand-alone
basis and the differences are presented as a cemipohstockholders’ equity. For the second quatet the first half of 2007 the differences
between the amount of tax calculated on a stamkabasis and the amount of tax calculated perathsharing agreement were recorded as
decreases in stockholders’ equity of $4.9 and $I&spectively. For the second quarter and theHal of 2008 the difference was not
significant.

As of June 30, 2008, we had a net income tax rab&wof $99.6, which was principally comprised ofaunts due from EMC; however,
this amount was net of approximately $7.9 of curnecome taxes payable due to various governmental
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authorities. The receivable arose because we Btahd-alone taxable loss for the first half of 200Bich was primarily attributable to tax
deductions arising from both non-qualified stocki@p exercises and from restricted stock wheredisérictions lapsed. Under the tax sharing
agreement with EMC, EMC is obligated to pay to nsamount equal to the tax benefit that EMC willagiize on its consolidated tax return.

Interest expense with EMC, net, consists of intezgpense on a note payable to EMC, offset by éstancome that has been earned on
our intercompany balance with EMC. In the seconarigu $3.7 of interest expense was recorded retatachote payable with EMC and was
included in the $3.6 interest expense with EMC, reztorded on the consolidated income statemetielfirst half of 2008, $9.7 of interest
expense was recorded related to a note payableBMtB and was included in the $9.4 interest expaiteEMC, net, recorded on the
consolidated income statement. In the second quantkfirst half of 2007, we incurred $7.8 and $8espectively, of interest expense with
EMC, net. Our interest income and our expensessaparate, stand-alone company may be higher arlthan the amounts reflected in the
financial statements.

In the second quarter of 2008, we resolved with Edd@ain acquisition-related intercompany liabéitidue to EMC which resulted from
EMC'’s acquisition of us. As a result, intercompdiapilities due to EMC of $9.7 were eliminated aredorded as an increase in additional
paid-in capital without the issuance of additioequity by us or remittance of any cash.

Prior to March 2008, our employees participatethsnEMC’s 401(k) Plan, and EMC cross-charged usHercosts associated with our
employees who participated in the EMC Plan. In Ma&608, our employees began participating in thendké’s 401(k) Plan and ceased
participation in the EMC Plan. See Note | to ounsmlidated financial statements.

Given that the amounts we recorded for our inteyzamy transactions with EMC did not arise from teari®ns negotiated at arsfengtt
with an unrelated third party, the financial stagers included herein may not necessarily reflecfioancial condition, results of operations
and cash flows had we engaged in such transactithsn unrelated third party during all periodeggnted. Accordingly, our historical rest
should not be relied upon as an indicator of oturiiperformance as a stand-alone company.

Subsequent Ever

On July 8, 2008, we announced the departure ofd@meene from her role as President and Chief ExecOfficer of VMware and the
appointment of Paul Maritz as her successor. Wieseethat Mr. Maritz’s industry experience and kaecord, including 14 years at Microsoft
where he served as part of its executive leadetshimp prior to his retirement from Microsoft in 20Qvill enable him to lead us through our
next stages of growth and development.

Income Statement Presentation
Sources of Revenue

License revenue@ur license revenues consist of revenues earnedtfre licensing of our software products. Theselpcts are
generally licensed on a perpetual basis and arergiynpriced based upon the number of physicakides or server processors on which our
software runs.

Services revenue®ur services revenues consist of software maintanand professional services. Maintenance revesmgeecognized
ratably over the contract period. Typically, ountact periods range from one to five years. Custameceive various types of technical
support based on the level of support purchasesto@ers who are party to maintenance agreemertisugiare entitled to receive product
updates and upgrades on a when-and-if-available.bas

Professional services include design, implememaditd training. Professional services are not cemed essential to the functionality of
our products, as these services do not alter theugpt capabilities and may be performed by ourausts or other vendors. Fees generated
from professional services engagements that hanatidns of 90 days or less are recognized in reegmgpon completion of the engagement.
Professional services engagements that have dusaifomore than 90 days for which we are able tkemaasonably dependable estimates of
progress toward completion are recognized on agutiomal performance basis based upon the houtsried. Revenues on all other
professional services engagements are recognizedagmnpletion.

Costs of Revenues and Operating Expenses
Cost of license revenues.

Our cost of license revenues principally consi$@mortization of capitalized software developmewsts and the cost of fulfillment of
our software. This cost of fulfilment of our softwe includes product packaging, personnel costselated overhead associated with the
physical and electronic delivery of our softwareducts.
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Cost of services revenues.

Our cost of services revenues includes the cogtersonnel and related overhead to deliver techsiggport on our products, and to
provide our professional services.

Research and development expenses.

Our research and development (“R&D”) expenses telilhe personnel and related overhead associatedhsiresearch and
development of new product offerings and the enbarent of our existing software offerings.

Sales and marketing expenses.

Our sales and marketing expenses include perseost and related overhead associated with theasdlenarketing of our license and
service offerings, as well as the cost of certaicic marketing initiatives, including our sentiraual VMworld conference.

General and administrative expenses.

Our general and administrative expenses includeopael and related overhead costs to support thalbbusiness. These expenses
include the costs associated with our financelifes, human resources, IT infrastructure and llegpartments.

Results of Operations
Revenues
Our revenues for the second quarter and firstdff2008 and 2007 are as follows (dollar amountsiitions):

For the Three Months Ended For the Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30,
2008 2007 2008 2007
Revenues
License $ 284.C $ 204.( $ 578.2 $ 373.¢
Services 171.¢ 92.€ 316.1 181.¢
$ 456.1 $ 296.¢ $ 894.: $ 555.F
Percentage of revenue
License 62.2% 68.7% 64.7% 67.2%
Services 37.1% 31.2% 35.2% 32.1%
100.(% 100.(% 100.(% 100.(%
Revenues
United State: $ 239.¢ $ 168.C $ 465.1 $ 304.t
International 216.2 128.¢ 429.7 251.C
$ 456.1 $ 296.¢ $ 894. $ 555.F
Percentage of revenue
United State: 52.¢% 56.€% 52.(% 54.8%
International 47 4% 43.4% 48.(% 45.2%
100.(% 100.(% 100.(% 100.(%

Total revenues increased by $159.3, or 54%, to $4i6&he second quarter of 2008, compared witlt6$2h the second quarter of 2007.
The growth in revenues in the second quarter o828flected an increase of $80.2 in license reverame an increase of $79.1 in services
revenues as compared to the second quarter of Bi@rmational revenues as a percentage of totehiges increased to 47% in the second
quarter of 2008, from 43% in the second quarte2Qff7.

Total revenues increased by $338.8, or 61%, to $884he first half of 2008, compared with $558%he first half of 2007. The growth
in revenues in the first half of 2008 reflectedirerease of $204.6 in license revenues and anaseref $134.2 in services revenues as
compared to the first half of 2007. Internatior&lenues as a percentage of total revenues incremd8b in the first half of 2008, from 45%
in the first half of 2007.

Our revenue contracts with international custonaeesdenominated in U.S. dollars.

License Revenues.

Software license revenues increased by $80.2, %r, 89$284.2 in the second quarter of 2008, contpaith $204.0 in the second
quarter of 2007. Software license revenues inctkhges204.6, or 55%, to $578.2 in the first hal2608, compared with $373.6 in the first
half of 2007. We believe a significant majorityth€é revenue growth in the second quarter
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and first half of 2008 compared to the respectiverg/ear periods in 2007 is the result of greakemand for our virtualization product
offerings attributable to wider industry acceptan€girtualization as part of organizations’ IT iabtructure, a broadened product portfolio and
expansion of our network of indirect channel parng&/e expect our license revenues to continuedw ¢ghrough the second half of 2008, as
we continue to broaden our virtual infrastructusiBons technology and product portfolio for maises to more users, increase our channel
partner transaction business and acquire new cesfoHowever, we expect the rate of growth to deaéd due primarily to the size and scale
of our business and lengthened sales cycles athil®ito the uncertain economic environment.

ELAs continue to be a significant component of mwenue growth. ELAs are core to our strategy ittbang-term relationships with
customers as they commit to our virtual infrastnoetsolutions in their data centers. ELAs providese from which to sell additional produ
such as our application and infrastructure managésiéte and our disaster recovery products. UndeELA, a portion of the revenues is
attributed to the license and recognized immedjatrit the majority is deferred and recognizedeasises revenues in future periods.

Although license revenue grew in the second quaftg008 when compared to the second quarter of Ai@nse revenue declined
slightly from the first quarter of 2008. At the eafithe second quarter of 2008, we observed a &smngertain customers’ behavior with the
lengthening of the sales cycle on ELAs that wedwgliis primarily correlated to economic uncertaiegpecially in the United States. In certain
cases, although customers made the decision thgsed/Mware solutions, they did so in smaller giast We believe this had a negative
impact on our revenue and deferred revenue indbersl quarter. We expect this trend to continueuthinout 2008 and perhaps longer term.

We sell our products through a network of chanetners, which includes distributors, reseller$§ g§stem vendors and systems
integrators. As we expand geographically, we mayadtitional direct channel partners. The increasesders primarily resulted from
increased sales volumes through our existing doleahnel partners. These increases were driveeusra factors, including greater demand
for our virtualization product offerings, wider imstry acceptance of virtualization as part of agaaization’s IT infrastructure, a broadened
product portfolio and expansion of our indirectichel partner network.

We have nearly 17,000 indirect channel partnexs dsne 30, 2008, an increase of over 7,000 frowebBer 31, 2007. These indirect
channel partners obtain software licenses andEr¥rom our distributors and x86 system vendodsraarket and sell them to end-user
customers. In the first quarter of 2008, we intraetlinew programs for these channel partners tetalsim to quickly establish and expand
their virtualization practices and drive new cuséoracquisition. We believe these programs encouwrbhganel loyalty and may facilitate our
ability to reach additional industry segments aogluire new customers. In addition, we have a dsafgs force that complements these eff
Our sales force works with our channel partnetisttmduce them to customers and new sales opptiganOur channel partners also introduce
our sales force to their customers.

We experienced an increase in the number of licerders greater than fifty thousand dollars ingbeond quarter of 2008, compared to
the second quarter of 2007, as well as in theffia#ft of 2008, compared to the first half of 208though we remain a high-volume transaction
business, we believe an increase in the numbécerfde orders greater than fifty thousand dollathé comparative periods is a result of
broader acceptance of virtual infrastructure sohgifor organizations’ IT infrastructure, a treodvérd end-user customers using our products
broadly across their organizations, and a resutt@fe customers entering into multi-year ELAs, mast comprehensive volume license
offering. Despite the increase in the second quaft2008 compared to the second quarter of 20@7experienced a slight decrease in the
number of license orders greater than fifty thodsdallars from the first quarter of 2008. Licensdeys from our distributors and end-user
customers which were greater than fifty thousanthdowere approximately 33% and 34% of licenseenexes in the second quarter of 2008
and 2007, respectively. License orders from ouritlistors and end-user customers which were greélager fifty thousand dollars were
approximately 33% and 31% of license revenuesaérfitht half of 2008 and 2007, respectively.

Services Revenues.

Services revenues increased by $79.1, or 85%,%.81n the second quarter of 2008, compared v@th&in the second quarter of 20
Services revenues increased by $134.2, or 74%316.$ in the first half of 2008, compared with $3Bih the first half of 2007. Services
revenues consist of software maintenance and fmiofes services revenues.

The increase in services revenues in the seconteq@ad the first half of 2008 was primarily ditrtable to growth in our software
maintenance revenues. This growth reflects theease in our license revenues, the benefit fromitpeétr maintenance contracts sold in
previous periods and renewals to customer contrBetdessional services revenues increased duswirgy demand for design and
implementation services and training programs nasweser organizations deployed virtualization asitheir organizations. Given the reasons
cited above, we expect that services revenueswiilipose a larger proportion of our revenue mixr@venue growth in 2008.
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Operating Expenses, GAAP and Non-GAAP

Information about our operating expenses with aitdoumt stock-based compensation is as follows étabimillions):

For the Three Months Ended June 30,

2008

2007

Stock-Based

Stock-Based

GAAP Compensatior Non-GAAP GAAP Compensatior Non-GAAP
Operating expense
Cost of license revenués $ 21.€ $ 03 $ 21:¢ $ 20.¢ $ 01 $ 207
Cost of services revenu 58.¢ (3.9 55.1 28.C (0.9 27.1
Research and developmt 114.1 (19.5) 94.€ 71.€ (8.9 63.5
Sales and marketir 158.: (11.9) 146.¢ 99.C (4.2) 94.7
General and administrati 42.2 (6.9 35.4 30.7 (2.5) 28.2
Total operating expens $395.1 $ (42.1) $ 353.( $250.1 $ (16.0 $ 234.1
Percentage of revenue
Cost of license revenus 4.7% 4.7% 7.C% 7.C%
Cost of services revenu 12.€ 12.1 9.4 9.1
Research and developmt 25.C 20.7 24.1 21.2
Sales and marketir 34.7 32.1 33.4 31.¢
General and administrati\ 9.3 7.8 10.Z 9.5
Total operating expens: 86.6% 77.2% 84.2% 78.%
For the Six Months Ended June 30
2008 2007
Stock-Based Stock-Based
GAAP Compensatior Non-GAAP GAAP Compensatior Non-GAAP
Operating expense
Cost of license revenués $ 44.F $ 05 $ 44cC $ 41.4 $ 01 $ 41:
Cost of services revenu 113.2 (7.0 106.2 51.k (1.9 50.1
Research and developmt 233.¢ (40.6) 192.¢ 126.5 (14.6¢) 111.¢
Sales and marketir 307.¢ (23.0 284.¢ 185.7 (7.2 178.t
General and administrati 86.: (13.1) 73.2 57.% (4.3 53.1
Total operating expens $785.( $ (84.2) $ 700.¢ $462.¢ $ (27.6) $ 434«
Percentage of revenue
Cost of license revenus 5.C% 4.9% 7.5% 7.4%
Cost of services revenu 12.7 11.¢ 9.3 9.C
Research and developmt 26.1 21.€ 22.¢ 20.1
Sales and marketir 34.4 31.¢ 33.4 32.1
General and administrati\ 9.6 8.2 10.Z 9.€
Total operating expens: 87.8% 78.2% 83.2% 78.2%

(1) Included in the cost of license revenues isatmertization of capitalized software developmersts of $14.3 and $8.7 in the second quarter o8 20@ 2007, respectively. Costs of

revenues include the amortization of capitalizeithsare development costs of $29.1 and $16.7 irfiteehalf of 2008 and 2007, respectively.

Operating expenses without stock-based compensat®onon-GAAP financial measures. See—"Non-GAARaRoial Measures” below.

Costs of Revenues

Our costs of revenues increased by $31.7, or 66%8®.5 in the second quarter of 2008, compareld $48.8 in the second quarter of

2007. Costs of revenues increased by $64.9, or 1®%4,57.7 in the first half of 2008, compared w#82.8 in the first half of 2007. As a
percentage of revenues, cost of revenues were b8%&90 in the second quarter of 2008 and 2007 eadisiely, and 18% and 17% in the first
half of 2008 and 2007, respectively. The incre@sear costs of revenues were primarily attribuéatol increased direct support, professional
services personnel and third-party professionalises costs to support the increased services vegetncluded in the costs of revenues is the
amortization of capitalized software developmergtspwhich were $14.3 and $8.7 in the second quaft2008 and 2007, respectively and
$29.1 and $16.7 in the first half of 2008 and 20@gpectively.
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Research and Development Expenses

Our R&D expenses increased by $42.5, or 59%, td d1ih the second quarter of 2008, compared with&ih the second quarter of
2007. R&D expenses increased by $106.8, or 84%233.4 in the first half of 2008, compared with 6Bin the first half of 2007. As a
percentage of revenues, R&D expenses were 25%4%dr2the second quarter of 2008 and 2007, respbgtiand 26% and 23% in the first
half of 2008 and 2007, respectively. The increade&D expenses was primarily attributable to incestal headcount to support the growth of
our business, resulting in increased salaries,fiemxpense, stock-based compensation expenseamsdlting fees, resulting from the
deployment of additional resources to support nesdyct development. Partially offsetting this irese was an increase in software
capitalization, which increased by $10.4 to $14h8lgding $3.0 of stock-based compensation) insteond quarter of 2008, compared with
$4.4 (including $0.5 of stock-based compensatiorihé second quarter of 2007, and by $7.9 to ${189cuding $3.9 of stock-based
compensation) in the first half of 2008, comparethw12.0 (including $1.5 of stodkased compensation) in the first half of 2007. TWés du
primarily to increased development efforts in theand quarter and first half of 2008 that were tediged as compared to the second quarter
and first half of 2007.

Sales and Marketing Expenses

Our sales and marketing expenses increased by, %5%8%, to $158.3 in the second quarter of 26@8n $99.0 in the second quarter
2007. Sales and marketing expenses increased Hy% 12 66%, to $307.6 in the first half of 200&rh $185.7 in the first half of 2007. As a
percentage of revenues, sales and marketing expamese 35%, 33%, 34% and 33% in the second quat@®08 and 2007, and in the first
halves of 2008 and 2007, respectively. The incieaseales and marketing expenses in absoluterd@tasisted primarily of higher salaries,
benefits expense and stock-based compensation &xpem to both increases in sales and marketirsgmeel and higher commission expense
resulting from increased sales volume. Stock-basetpensation expense increased by $7.5 in the departer of 2008 as compared with the
second quarter of 2007, and by $15.8 in the fia#ft & 2008 as compared with the first half of 2087portion of our sales and marketing
expenses is denominated in foreign currencieslamsléxposed to foreign exchange rate fluctuatiopsn consolidation, as exchange rates
vary, the amount of sales and marketing expensgdloauate in response to changes in the excheatgebetween the U.S. dollar and the
foreign currencies in which the expenses are payabl

General and Administrative Expenses

Our general and administrative expenses increag&d b5, or 37%, to $42.2 in the second quart&0aB, compared with $30.7 in the
second quarter of 2007. General and administratypenses increased by $28.9, or 50%, to $86.3ifit half of 2008, compared with $57.3
in the first half of 2007. As a percentage of raxes) general and administrative expenses were 9%, 10% and 10% in the second quarters
of 2008 and 2007 and in the first halves of 2008 2007, respectively. These expenses increasdisoige dollars primarily as a result of
additional salaries, benefits expense and stockebasmpensation expense resulting from the additieasources to support the growth of our
business and to expand our own administrative fanst including our finance, legal, human resourras information technology functions.
Stock-based compensation expense increased byn®#h& second quarter of 2008 as compared witlsélcend quarter of 2007 and $8.8 in the
first half of 2008 as compared with the first haflf2007.

Stock-Based Compensation Expense

Stock-based compensation expenses increased ki, $28.63%, to $42.1 in the second quarter of 2868 pared with $16.0 in the
second quarter of 2007. Stobksed compensation expenses increased by $5&65%, to $84.2 in the first half of 2008, compavéth $27.¢
in the first half of 2007. Stock-based compensagiomarily increased in the second quarter of 2808ompared with the second quarter of
2007, as well as in the first half of 2008 as coragawith the first half of 2007, due to broad-bastatk option and restricted stock unit grants
made under the VMware 2007 Equity and Incentiven Bieginning in the second quarter of 2007.

Between the time of our acquisition by EMC in Jagu2004 and June 2007, we did not issue equity @sviar our stock to our employe
During this period, employees received stock-basadpensation in the form of EMC stock options agstricted stock awards and units as a
result of grants made by EMC’s Board of Direct@sginning in June 2007, we granted equity incergiwards under our 2007 Equity and
Incentive Plan in anticipation of our IPO. In contien with the IPO in August 2007, we conducteceaohange offer pursuant to which we
offered our eligible employees the ability to exape their existing EMC options and restricted stawlards for options to purchase our
Class A common stock and restricted stock awarasinfClass A common stock, respectively.

As of June 30, 2008, the total unamortized faiugadf outstanding VMware equity-based awards an€Eduity-based awards held by
VMware employees was approximately $406. This arhailhbe recognized over the awards’ requisitesBzr periods, and is expected to
result in stocksased compensation expense of approximately $&3, #1119, $68 and $4 for the years ended 2008,, 21D, 2011 and 201
respectively. The annual expense is subject tatheunt of stock-based compensation that may beéatiapd as costs incurred with the
development of new software products and also soéwleveloped for internal use, the amount of asvérat ultimately vest and also the
timing and ultimate recognition of expense relatedestricted stock units and restricted stock awéfrcertain performance goals are achieved.
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In future quarters, our stock-based compensatipermrse is expected to increase as a result of additequity grants in future periods.
Additionally, in July 2008, our Board of Directaapproved a proposal to exchange certain emplope& sptions issued under VMware’s
2007 Equity and Incentive Plan. Options exchangeteuthe proposal will vest over a fogear period from the date of the exchange offeh
no credit for past vesting and will have a newysar option term. Conducting this exchange willtes incremental stock-based
compensation expense in future periods. See Ndtedur consolidated financial statements.

Intangible Asset:

In the second quarters of 2008 and 2007, we aneolr$3.8 and $6.3, respectively, for purchased gibdm assets. The amortization
expense for the first half of 2008 and 2007 wa§ $nd $12.6, respectively. Amortization expense lvagr in the second quarter of 2008 as
compared to the second quarter of 2007, as wetl te first half of 2008 as compared to the firalf of 2007, due to decreasing amortization
for historical acquisitions offset in part by adlital amortization for new acquisitions. The anmzation expense was classified as follows ir
consolidated income statements (table in millions):

For the Three Months Ended For the Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30,
2008 2007 2008 2007
Costs of license revenu $ 2.3 $ 5.2 $ 46 $ 10.4
Sales and marketir 0.9 0.6 1.8 1.2
General and administrati\ 0.6 0.5 1.3 1.C

$ 3.8 $ 6.3 $ 7.7 $ 12.€

Operating Income

Our operating income increased by $14.3, or 319%6th0 in the second quarter of 2008, compared $467 in the second quarter of
2007. Operating margins were 13% and 16% in thersbquarter of 2008 and 2007, respectively. Thersg¢quarter operating margin
decreased primarily as a result of the increastoickbased compensation of $26.1 offset by a decreamepense of $4.9 from the net effec
capitalizing and amortizing software developmerstso

Our operating income increased by $16.3, or 179%109.4 in the first half of 2008, compared witlB#in the first half of 2007.
Operating margins were 12% and 17% in the first 622008 and 2007, respectively. Operating madgioreased primarily as a result of the
increase in the first half of 2008 of stock-basethpensation of $56.6 and an increase in expen$4.6ffrom the net effect of capitalizing and
amortizing software development costs.

During the second quarter of 2008, we reviewedranised the estimated useful lives of certain asaftér considering (i) the estimated
future benefits we expect to receive from thosetasgii) the pattern of consumption of those beaaind (iii) the information available
regarding those benefits. We increased the estimegeful lives of computers and other related egeipt, which had carrying values of $42.6
and $17.4, respectively, as of March 31, 2008, feoyears to 3 years to match the length of thaeelaarranty contracts. These changes in
estimates will be accounted for prospectively. Bhasanges in estimates reduced depreciation exjpgr€8 and increased both basic and
diluted earnings per share by $0.01 from what wialde been reported otherwise in the second quzr2808.

A portion of our costs of revenues, primarily tlusts of personnel to deliver technical support mnpsoducts, and a portion of our
operating expenses mainly related to sales, sapgsost and research and development, are denordimatereign currencies, primarily the
Euro, the British pound, the Japanese yen, thaimdipee, the Australian dollar and the Canadidlardd@hese costs and the resulting effect on
operating income are exposed to foreign exchangefltectuations. As a result of fluctuations in #xchange rates between the U.S. dollar and
foreign currencies, operating income decreased®hy i& the second quarter of 2008, as comparedtivitlsecond quarter of 2007, as well as
decreased by $18.4 in the first half of 2008, asared with the first half of 2007. If the dollasrginues to weaken in relation to other
currencies, such as the Euro, we expect this tiragnto have a negative effect on our operatinggina.

We continue to expect that our operating expensiégarease in absolute terms and could increasa percentage of revenues. In the
third quarter of 2008, we anticipate that our opagamargin could decrease as compared to the despasrter due to our continued product
development and market expansion investments dsas/elur exposure to fluctuations in foreign cuecserates.
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Investment Income

Investment income was $6.3 and $2.7 in the secaadey of 2008 and 2007, respectively. Investmeedine was $14.3 and $4.4 in the
first half of 2008 and 2007, respectively. Investinacome consists of interest earned on cash asld equivalent balances. Investment inc
increased in the second quarter of 2008 compar#iteteecond quarter of 2007 due to higher castcasil equivalent balances, primarily a
result of the proceeds we received in the thirdtgnaf 2007 from our IPO and the sale of sharesunfClass A common stock to Intel Capital.

Interest (Expense) Income with EMC, N

Interest expense with EMC, net, was $3.6, $7.8} $8d $6.5 in the second quarters of 2008 and 2667n the first halves of 2008 and
2007, respectively. In the second quarter of 20@Bfast half of 2008, interest expense with EM@,rconsisted primarily of $3.7 and $9.7,
respectively, in interest expense incurred on tite issued to EMC in April 2007, offset by interestome of $0.1 and $0.3, respectively,
earned on amounts due to us from EMC on our intepamy balance. The decrease in interest expertbe second quarter of 2008 and first
half of 2008, compared with the second quartero®f72and first half of 2007 was due to decreasastémest rates. The decrease in the amount
of interest income in the second quarter of 20G8fast half of 2008, compared with the second tgranf 2007 and first half of 2007, is due to
lower intercompany balances maintained between ERiCus.

Income Tax Provisior

Our effective income tax rate was 18.4% for theosdayuarter of 2008 and 17.6% for the second quaft2007. The increase in the
effective rate for the three months ended Jun2303 compared to the three months ended June B@,8s primarily attributable to the
expiration of the federal research tax credit,ramease in other non-deductible permanent diff@gm@nd an increase in transfer pricing
adjustments relative to our forecasted annual gxaéricome. The increase in the effective tax rads largely offset by the tax benefit resulting
from a change in the mix of income from U.S. soanteinternational sources. Income earned abroadnsidered indefinitely reinvested in
Company'’s foreign operations and no provision fog.Uaxes has been provided with respect thereto.

The effective tax rates for the first half of 200&d the first half of 2007 were essentially the s@nl17.1% and 17.2%. We derived a tax
benefit resulting from a change in the mix of inefrom U.S. sources to international sources. Ircearned abroad is considered indefinitely
reinvested in the Company'’s foreign operationsramg@rovision for U.S. taxes has been provided wapect thereto. This tax benefit which
decreases the effective tax rate is largely offgethe increases in the effective tax rate pripaitributable to the expiration of the federal
research tax credit, an increase in other non-déde@ermanent differences and an increase irsteaupricing adjustments relative to our
forecasted annual pre-tax income.

Non-GAAP Financial Measures

Regulation S-K Item 10(e), “Use of Non-GAAP Finaaldileasures in Commission Filings,” and other SgiesrExchange Commission
(“SEC") regulations define and prescribe the cdodi for use of certain non-GAAP financial inforieat Our measures of costs of revenues
and operating expenses without stock-based comiiemsaeet the definition of non-GAAP financial maesess. These non-GAAP financial
measures, which are used as measures of our parfoenshould be considered in addition to, notssbatitute for or in isolation from,
measures of our financial performance prepareddoraance with GAAP. We provide this informatiorstoow the impact of stock-based
compensation on our results of operations, aseikx@duded from our internal operating plans andsuesment of financial performance
(although we consider the dilutive impact to ouargholders when awarding stock-based compensaimraue such awards accordingly),
and because determining the fair value of theedlaguity awards involves a high degree of judgraedtestimation.

Costs of revenues and operating expenses withock-ttased compensation have limitations due tdabtethat they do not include all
expenses related to the compensation of our peldlgee specifically, if we did not pay out a portiohour compensation in the form of stock-
based compensation, the cash salary expense iddludeir costs of revenues and operating expensafvioe higher. We compensate for this
limitation by providing supplemental informationali outstanding stock-based awards in the footrtotesir financial statements. Stobksec
compensation programs are an important elementrof@mpensation structure and all forms of stockedaawards are valued and included as
appropriate in results of operations. Managemeahgty encourages stockholders to review our firerstatements and publicly-filed reports
in their entirety and not to rely on any singlegfiicial measure.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources
Our cash flows for the second quarter and first ®@&2008 and 2007, respectively, were as follows:

For the Three Months Ended For the Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30,
2008 2007 2008 2007
Net cash provided by operating activit $ 150.€ $ 85.€ $ 283.¢ $ 190.f
Net cash used in investing activiti $ (6549 $ (640 $ (151« $ (86.€
Net cash provided by financing activiti $ 149.( $ — $ 176.: $ —

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

In the second quarter of 2008, our operating clstsfreflected net income generated during theopest $52.3, adjusted for non-cash
items such as depreciation and amortization expei$89.5 and stock-based compensation of $42.ik.Whs offset by excess tax benefits
from stock-based compensation of $56.7. FAS No(RR3Accounting for Stock-Based Compensatiomfuires excess tax benefits relatin
stock-based compensation deductions be presenfethasing cash flows, rather than as cash flowsfoperating activities. The benefits of
tax deductions in excess of the tax-affected corsguion could fluctuate significantly from periodgeriod based on the number of stdidsec
awards exercised, sold or vested, the tax berggfiized and the tax-affected compensation recodnize

Additionally, working capital, including short- ahohg-term deferred revenue, income taxes payabtMC and deferred income taxes,
net, generated cash flow of $73.8 in the secondeguaf 2008, primarily as the result of an inceea$ $83.1 in deferred income taxes, net and
deferred revenue of $80.2 due to the growth inbuginess, as well as an increase in amounts dakI€@ of $23.0. This was offset by a
decrease in income taxes payable to EMC of $78.4h@ease in accounts receivable of $25.1 andeedse in accounts payable of $18.6. As
of June 30, 2008, our deferred revenue balancaestedf deferred license revenues of $27.1 andrdaf services revenues of $694.2, of
which $450.3 of the total deferred revenue balamae classified as current.

In the second quarter of 2007, our operating clasth feflected net income generated during the pleoio$34.2, adjusted for non-cash
items such as depreciation and amortization expein$23.6 and stock-based compensation of $16.0kMp capital generated cash flow of
$12.2, primarily the result of an increase in tatederred revenue of $75.0. Our deferred revenlanba consisted of deferred license revenues
of $84.4 and deferred service revenues of $331J2ra 30, 2007, of which $306.2 of the total def@mevenue balance was classified as
current. The increase in deferred revenue wasgligrtiffset by an increase in accounts receivabf®s@.5.

In the first half of 2008, our operating cash flongflected net income generated during the perfd&96.4, adjusted for non-cash items
such as depreciation and amortization expense@B$hd stock-based compensation of $84.2. Thisoffast by excess tax benefits from
stockbased compensation of $79.4. Working capital géedreash flow of $105.7 in the first half of 20@8imarily as the result of an incree
in deferred revenue of $168.3 and deferred incamrest, net of $46.7 due to the growth in our busin€kis was offset by a decrease in income
taxes payable to EMC of $97.0 and an increasedowats receivable of $24.3.

In the first half of 2007, our operating cash flosflected net income generated during the peridb76f3, adjusted for non-cash items
such as depreciation and amortization expense4B%hd stock-based compensation of $27.6. Wortépital generated cash flow of $42.7,
primarily the result of an increase in total deg¢errevenue of $108.8. The increase in deferrechtevevas partially offset by an increase of
$90.1 in our intercompany balance due from EMC.

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Cash used in investing activities was $65.4, $6816,1.0 and $86.6 in the second quarters of 2068807 and in the first halves of 2(
and 2007, respectively. Cash paid for capital &mtutwas $51.9, $32.3, $100.9 and $48.9 in thergbqgoarters of 2008 and 2007 and in the
first halves of 2008 and 2007, respectively. Capititions increased in 2008 as compared to 2pfmharily due to increased costs related to
our new headquarters facilities and investmenbmputer and network equipment. For our new headepsafacilities, we purchased furniture
and fixtures and invested cash in the remaininglings under development. We invested in computdrreetwork equipment to support
increased personnel and related infrastructureinrements both domestically and internationallytHa second quarter of 2008, we accrued for
$6.9 less of capital additions as compared toiteeduarter of 2008, for a total of $12.2 in capadditions in the first half of 2008 that are not
reflected in our statement of cash flows as wert@demitted cash for the additions prior to thd efithe quarter. Business acquisitions, net of
cash acquired, used $33.3 in the first half of 2@&pitalized software development costs, excludiogk-based compensation expenses, were
$11.8, $3.9, $15.9 and $10.5 in the second quasfe2808 and 2007 and the first halves of 2008 20@7, respectively. We expect to continue
to invest in capital additions and business actjoiss in future periods. In July 2008, we compled@dacquisition of a privately-held software
company incurring cash investment of approximat&ly.6.
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Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Cash provided by financing activities was $149.0 $h76.3 in the second quarter and first half i 20Ve had no financing activities in
the second quarter and first half of 2007, prinyasiécause equity awards under our 2007 EmployeéyEayud Incentive Plan had not yet
vested and were not eligible to be exercised. @as¥ided by financing activities in the second deiaand first half of 2008 reflected proceeds
from issuances of common stock, including the dgerof options that vested during these periodsta@agurchase of shares under our 2007
Employee Stock Purchase plan of $109.7 and $183sBectively, and excess tax benefits from stodetdaompensation of $56.7 and $79.4,
respectively. These financing cash inflows werdiglly offset by $17.4 and $36.5, respectivelysbares repurchased to cover tax withholding
obligations in conjunction with the net share satttnt upon the vesting of restricted stock. We eixipat cash proceeds from issuances of
common stock and the excess tax benefit from shaded compensation could increase over time as stk options vest and become
exercisable, however, these proceeds could fluesighificantly from period to period based on ti@rket value of our stock, the number of
awards exercised, sold or vested, the tax berggfiized and the tax-affected compensation recodnize

Our cash and cash equivalents balance increased¥t?31.2 at December 31, 2007 to $1,540.3 at 30n2008. Based on our current
operating and capital expenditure forecasts, wiewekhat the combination of funds currently avaigeand funds to be generated from
operations will be adequate to finance our ongoipgrations for at least the next 12 months.

To date, inflation has not had a material impacoonfinancial results.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements, Contractual Obligabns, Contingent Liabilities and Commitments

There were no substantial changes to our guaranigéndemnification obligations or our contractcammitments in the second quarter
of 2008.

Critical Accounting Policies

Our consolidated financial statements are basdti@grelection and application of generally acceptambunting principles that require us
to make estimates and assumptions about futurdsetreat affect the amounts reported in our findrat@tements and the accompanying notes.
Future events and their effects cannot be detedniith certainty. Therefore, the determination stiraates requires the exercise of judgment.
Actual results could differ from those estimatag] any such differences may be material to oumnfired statements. We believe that the
critical accounting policies set forth within Iterof our 2007 Annual Report on Form 10-K may inwodvhigher degree of judgment and
complexity in their application than our other sfgrant accounting policies and represent theaaltaccounting policies used in the prepare
of our financial statements. If different assumpsi@r conditions were to prevail, the results cdédnaterially different from our reported
results. Our significant accounting policies areggnted within Note A to our consolidated finanstatements of our 2007 Annual Report on
Form 10-K.

New Accounting Pronouncements

We adopted Financial Accounting Standards (“FASKBRNo. 157, “Fair Value Measurements” (“FAS No. 15@n January 1, 2008.
FAS No. 157 defines fair value, establishes a ndgtogy for measuring fair value, and expands tlggiired disclosure for fair value
measurements. On February 12, 2008, the Financizdunting Standards Board (“FASB”) FASB issued FARBff Position No. FAS 157-2,
“Effective Date of FASB Statement No. 157,” whicblays the effective date of FAS No. 157 by one yeanon-financial assets and non-
financial liabilities, except for items that areognized or disclosed at fair value in the finahstatements on a recurring basis (at least
annually). Therefore, beginning on January 1, 2088,standard applies prospectively to new falnganeasurements of financial instruments
and recurring fair value measurements of non-firrassets and non-financial liabilities. On Jagugr2009, the beginning of our 2009 fiscal
year, the standard will also apply to all other failue measurements. We are currently evaluatiagotential impact of FAS No. 157 for r-
financial assets and ndimancial liabilities on our financial position amesults of operations. The adoption for finanaisdets and liabilities ¢
not have an impact on our consolidated financiaitfmn and results of operations.

In December 2007, the FASB issued FAS No. 141 ¢sl/P007) or FAS No. 141R, “Business Combinatiomhi$ statement establishes
principles and requirements for how the acquirea business combination (i) recognizes and measuitsfinancial statements the
identifiable assets acquired, the liabilities assdjand any noncontrolling interest in the acquif@erecognizes and measures the goodwill
acquired in the business combination or a gain fadmargain purchase, and (iii) determines whatinégion to disclose to enable users of the
financial statements to evaluate the nature arahéiial effects of the business combination. FAS Nd. (revised 2007) is effective for fiscal
years beginning after December 15, 2008. The impfattte standard on our financial position and itesef operation will be dependent up
the number of and magnitude of acquisitions we gomsated, if any, once the standard is effective.
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In December 2007, the FASB issued FAS No. 160 o8 Rb. 160, “Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidateénancial Statements—an
amendment of ARB No. 51.” The objective of thigataent is to improve the relevance, comparabititd transparency of the financial
information that a reporting entity provides indtensolidated financial statements by establishtapunting and reporting standards for the
noncontrolling interest in a subsidiary and therefdeconsolidation of a subsidiary. FAS No. 166fisctive for fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2008. We do not expect the standarduwe a material impact on our financial positiomesults of operations.

In April 2008, the FASB issued a FASB Staff Positan FAS No. 142-3, “Determination of the Usefulle_of Intangible Assets” (“FSP
FAS No. 142-3"). FSP FAS No. 142-3 amends the fadfeat should be considered in developing renewaktension assumptions used to
determine the useful life of a recognized intargiééset under FAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Otherrigiiale Assets” (“FAS No. 142”). The
intent of this FSP is to improve the consistendyveen the useful life of a recognized intangiblseasinder FAS No. 142 and the period of
expected cash flows used to measure the fair \ailtlee asset under FAS No. 141 (revised 2007), iftass Combinations’and other U.S.
generally accepted accounting principles. This ES##fective for financial statements issued facél years beginning after December 15,
2008, and interim periods within those fiscal ye8lyge are currently evaluating the potential impeEdeSP FAS No. 142-3 on our financial
position and results of operations.

Item 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARK  ET RISK
Foreign Exchange Risk

International revenues as a percentage of totelhgss were 47.4% and 43.4% in the second quarg90& and 2007, respectively, and
48.0% and 45.2% in the first half of 2008 and 20@gpectively. Our revenue contracts are denontriate).S. dollars and the vast majority of
our purchase contracts are denominated in U.SardolA portion of our cost of revenues, primariig tost of personnel to deliver technical
support on our products, and a portion of our dpeyaexpense related to sales and sales supporeaadrch and development, are
denominated in foreign currencies, primarily thedzuhe British pound, the Japanese yen, the Indipae, the Australian dollar and the
Canadian dollar. These costs and the resultingtedfe operating income are exposed to foreign exgphaate fluctuations. Upon consolidation,
as exchange rates vary, operating expenses may difiterially from expectations. For example, tmoant of our operating lease
commitments may fluctuate in response to changdiexchange rate between the U.S. dollar antbtk@n currencies as several of our
operating leases are payable in foreign currencies.

We do not hedge our exposure to foreign currengstdiation. As a result of fluctuations in the exopa rates between the U.S. dollar and
foreign currencies, operating income was negatiimpacted by $9.1 and $18.4 in the second quanifiest half of 2008, as compared to the
second quarter and the first half of 2007, respebti

Interest Rate Risl

Our exposure to market risk relates primarily te #ariable interest obligation on the note we inedito fund an $800.0 dividend to
EMC. The dividend was declared in April 2007, bivieqy retroactive effect as of December 31, 200& fitte may be repaid, without penalty,
at any time. Subsequent to receiving the proce®ds dur IPO in August 2007, we repaid $350.0 ofgipal on the note. The note matures in
April 2012 and bears an interest rate of the 90IdB0OR plus 55 basis points, with interest payaijplarterly in arrears. The interest rate on the
note payable as of June 30, 2008 was 3.24%, buntiest rate on the note payable will increasefgyroximately 100 basis points for the
third quarter of 2008 because of increases in thddy LIBOR. Therefore, we expect our interest eggeon the note payable to increase in the
third quarter. If our interest rates were to chah@e basis points from the June 30, 2008 rate asdnaing no payments on the principal were
made during 2008, our annual interest expense wehddge by $4.5.

ltem 4T. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedur

Our management, with the participation of our ppatexecutive officer and principal financial aféir, has evaluated the effectiveness of
our disclosure controls and procedures (as defim&ules 13a-15(e) and 19d{(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934nasnded (th
“Exchange Act")), as of the end of the period c@eeby this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. Baseduwmh evaluation, our principal executive
officer and principal financial officer have condkd that as of such date, our disclosure contradspaocedures were effective.

We are required to comply with the internal contegorting requirements of Section 404 of the Saeb®xley Act of 2002 for our fisci
year ending December 31, 2008. The managementt@poauditor attestation on the effectivenesdi@f@ompan’s internal control over
financial reporting must be included in our anmegdort for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2008
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PART Il
OTHER INFORMATION

ltem 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We are named from time to time as a party to laigsnithe normal course of our business. In suske<# is our policy to defend against
such claims, or if considered appropriate, negatiasettiement on commercially reasonable termaeder, no assurance can be given that we
will be able to negotiate settlements on commdicralasonable terms, or at all, or that any liigatresulting from such claims would not have
a material adverse effect on our consolidated firmosition, liquidity, operating results, or azonsolidated financial statements taken as a
whole.

Item 1A. RISK FACTORS

The risk factors that appear below could materiaffect our business, financial condition and rissaf operations. The risks and
uncertainties described below are not the onlysraskd uncertainties facing us. Our business issalbfect to general risks and uncertainties
affect many other companies.

Risks Related to Our Business

The virtualization products and services we seledrased on an emerging technology and therefore th&ential market for our products
remains uncertain.

The virtualization products and services we develog sell are based on an emerging technologyophatand our success depends on
organizations and customers perceiving technolbgita operational benefits and cost savings assatisith adopting virtual infrastructure
solutions. Our relatively limited operating histagd the relatively limited extent to which virtuafrastructure solutions have been currently
adopted may make it difficult to evaluate our besmbecause the potential market for our prodeatsiins uncertain. The markets for our
virtualization products are new and have growndigfrom a small base. This has resulted in sigaiit percentage increases in our product
sales in recent periods. As the markets for oudyets mature and the scale of our business inggtserate of growth in our product sales
may be lower than those we have experienced imtgeziods. In addition, to the extent that theéuatization market develops more slowly or
less comprehensively than we expect, our revenmgthrrates may slow materially or our revenue meglide substantially.

We expect to face increasing competition that corddult in a loss of customers, reduced revenueslecreased operating margins.

The market for our products is competitive and wgeet competition to significantly intensify in tifigture. For example, Microsoft
currently provides products that compete with sofmeur free offerings and released a product inst@ond quarter of 2008 that will likely
compete with our entry level enterprise-class potgluMicrosoft’s offerings are positioned to congefith our hypervisor offerings. We also
face competition from other companies, includingesal recent market entrants and there have beemaer of announcements of new
product initiatives, alliances and consolidatiofos by our competitors. For example, Citrix Sysseacquired XenSource, a developer of
virtual infrastructure solutions software, and ammzed an expansion of its alliance with Microsafid XenSource products were made
available preinstalled on servers of certain x8dees. Virtual Iron Software released a new versibits infrastructure product, Sun
Microsystems announced a virtualization initiatared Oracle released a Xen-based product. Existidduture competitors may introduce
products in the same markets we serve or intesénee, and competing products may have better ipesfoce, lower prices, better
functionality and broader acceptance than our prtsd@ur competitors may also add features to theiralization products similar to features
that presently differentiate our product offerifdigsn theirs. Many of our current or potential corifmes also have longer operating histories,
greater name recognition, larger customer basesigndicantly greater financial, technical, salesgrketing and other resources than we do.
This competition could result in increased pricprgssure and sales and marketing expenses, thaisbyially reducing our operating margi
and could harm our ability to increase, or caustougse, market share. Increased competitionrabsp prevent us from entering into or
renewing service contracts on terms similar toehtbsit we currently offer and may cause the len§itiur sales cycle to increase.

Some of our competitors and potential competitapply a wide variety of products to, and have vestlablished relationships with, our
current and prospective end users. Some of theapetiiors have in the past and may in the futuke tadvantage of their existing relationst
to engage in business practices that make our ptetkss attractive to our end users. For exanMitosoft has implemented distribution
arrangements with x86 system vendors and indepésdéware vendors, or ISVs, related to certaitheir operating systems that only permit
the use of Microsoft’s virtualization format and dot allow the use of our corresponding format. fdgoft has also implemented pricing
policies that require customers to pay additioitarise fees based on certain uses of virtualizéiomology. These distribution and licensing
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restrictions, as well as other business practitasmay be adopted in the future by our competitmald materially impact our prospects
regardless of the merits of our products. In addjtcompetitors with existing relationships withr @aurrent or prospective end users could in
the future integrate competitive capabilities ititeir existing products and make them availabléevit additional charge. For example, Oracle
has started to provide free server virtualizatioftveare intended to support Oracle and non-Oragpdieations and Microsoft started selling or
offering for free, its own server virtualizationfsgare. Symantec Corporation also announced a cbiimpeXen-based product. By engaging in
such business practices, our competitors can dilmicompetitive advantages we may possess by intantj end users to choose products
lack some of the technical advantages of our ovigriofs.

We also face potential competition from our pané&ior example, third parties currently selling products could build and market th
own competing products and services or market cangperoducts and services of third parties. Ifave unable to compete effectively, our
growth and our ability to sell products at profimimargins could be materially and adversely aéféct

Industry alliances or consolidation may result im¢reased competitior

Some of our competitors have made acquisitionsitared into partnerships or other strategic retetiips with one another to offer a
more comprehensive virtualization solution tharytimelividually had offered. For example, Citrix $§ms recently acquired XenSource, a
developer of virtual infrastructure solutions anicisoft announced an expansion of its alliancé @itrix. We expect these trends to conti
as companies attempt to strengthen or maintain thaiket positions in the evolving virtualizatiorfriastructure industry. Many of the
companies driving this trend have significantlyajes financial, technical and other resources thamlo and may be better positioned to
acquire and offer complementary products and tdogies. The companies resulting from these possibaebinations may create more
compelling product offerings and be able to offexager pricing flexibility than we can or may engag business practices that make it more
difficult for us to compete effectively, includiran the basis of price, sales and marketing progréenbnology or product functionality. These
pressures could result in a substantial loss dbowsrs or a reduction in our revenues.

Our operating results may fluctuate significantlyyhich makes our future results difficult to predi@nd may result in our operating results
falling below expectations or our guidance, whiclowld cause the price of our Class A common stocklezline.

Our operating results may fluctuate due to a waéfactors, many of which are outside of our €ohtAs a result, comparing our
operating results on a period-to-period basis naype meaningful. Our past results should not bed@pon as an indication of our future
performance. In addition, a significant portionoofr quarterly sales typically occurs during the asnth of the quarter, which we believe
generally reflects customer buying patterns foegrise technology. As a result, our quarterly afieg results are difficult to predict even in
the near term. If our revenues or operating redaltdelow the expectations of investors or se@sianalysts or below any guidance we may
provide to the market, the price of our Class A owm stock would likely decline substantially.

In addition, factors that may affect our operatiegults include, among others:

. fluctuations in demand, adoption rates, sales syatal pricing levels for our products and servi

. fluctuations in foreign currency exchange ra

. changes in custom¢ budgets for information technology purchases arttiértiming of their purchasing decisiol

. the timing of recognizing revenues in any givenrtgrawhich, as a result of software revenue reitmgnpolicies, can be affected
by a number of factors, including product announeets and beta progran

. the sale of our products in the timeframes we gdte, including the number and size of ordersaichequarter

. our ability to develop, introduce and ship in aglygnmanner new products and product enhancemeattsnet customer demand,
certification requirements and technical requiretsg

. the timing of the announcement or release of ugggad new products by us or by our competit

. our ability to implement scalable internal systdorsreporting, order processing, license fulfillmgoroduct delivery, purchasing,
billing and general accounting, among other fundis

. our ability to control costs, including our opengtiexpenses
. changes to our effective tax ra
. the increasing scale of our business and its effectur ability to maintain historical rates of gtb;
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. our ability to attract and retain highly skilled ployees, particularly those with relevant expereeimcsoftware development a
sales; ant

. general economic conditions in our domestic anerivdtional market:
Adverse economic conditions or reduced informatitathnology spending may adversely impact our reves

Our business depends on the overall demand fomiation technology and on the economic health ofcowrent and prospective
customers. The purchase of our products is ofteerefionary and may involve a significant commitingfircapital and other resources. Weak
economic conditions, or a reduction in informatieohnology spending even if economic conditionsrowp, would likely adversely impact
our business, financial condition and results afrafions in a number of ways, including by lengthgrsales cycles, lowering prices for our
products and services and reducing unit sales.

If operating system and hardware vendors do not perate with us or we are unable to obtain early ass to their new products, or acces:
certain information about their new products to em® that our solutions interoperate with those pnacts, our product development efforts
may be delayed or foreclosed.

Our products interoperate with Windows, Linux attiden operating systems and the hardware devicegroérous manufacturers.
Developing products that interoperate properly iegusubstantial partnering, capital investmenteamgloyee resources, as well as the
cooperation of the vendors or developers of theaijpg systems and hardware. Operating system arbiiare vendors may not provide us
with early access to their technology and prodwadsist us in these development efforts or shateavisell to us any application protocol
interfaces (“APIs”), formats, or protocols we mased. If they do not provide us with the necessarlyeccess, assistance or proprietary
technology on a timely basis, we may experienceyrbdevelopment delays or be unable to expangmgucts into other areas. To the ex
that software or hardware vendors develop prodhetiscompete with ours or those of our controlltackholder, EMC, they may have an
incentive to withhold their cooperation, declinestare access or sell to us their proprietary Aftlstocols or formats or engage in practices to
actively limit the functionality, or compatibilitygnd certification of our products. In additionydhaare or operating system vendors may fail to
certify or support or continue to certify or supp@ur products for their systems. If any of theefyping occurs, our product development
efforts may be delayed or foreclosed and our bagsiaad results of operations may be adverselytatfec

We rely on distributors, resellers, x86 system varsdand systems integrators to sell our productsgdaur failure to effectively develop,
manage or prevent disruptions to our distributioma&nnels and the processes and procedures that suppem could cause a reduction in
the number of end users of our products.

Our future success is highly dependent upon maimigiand increasing the number of our relationshijpk distributors, resellers, x86
system vendors and systems integrators. By relyimdistributors, resellers, x86 system vendorssystems integrators, we may have little or
no contact with the ultimate users of our produttsreby making it more difficult for us to estalibrand awareness, ensure proper delivery
and installation of our products, service ongoingtomer requirements, estimate end user demangkapdnd to evolving customer needs.

Recruiting and retaining qualified channel partreerd training them in the use of our technology pratiuct offerings requires
significant time and resources. In order to develog expand our distribution channel, we must ooitito expand and improve our processes
and procedures that support our channel, includirgnvestment in systems and training, and thosegsses and procedures may become
increasingly complex and difficult to manage. Timet and expense required for sales and marketiganizations of our channel partners to
become familiar with our product offerings, inclaodiour new product developments, may make it miffiewt to introduce those products to
end users and delay end user adoption of our ptadigrings. We generally do not have long-termtcacts or minimum purchase
commitments with our distributors, resellers, x§6tem vendors and systems integrators, and ourasdsitwith these channel partners do not
prohibit them from offering products or serviceatthompete with ours. Our competitors may be effedh providing incentives to existing
and potential channel partners to favor productsunfcompetitors or to prevent or reduce saleuuofpooducts. Certain x86 system vendors
have begun to offer competing virtualization pragyareinstalled on their server products. Additibnaur competitors could attempt to
require key distributors to enter into exclusivéiyangements with them or otherwise apply thetipg or marketing leverage to discourage
distributors from offering our products. Accordiggbur channel partners and x86 system vendorsainagse not to offer our products
exclusively or at all. Our failure to maintain aindrease the number of relationships with chanaegrs would likely lead to a loss of end
users of our products which would result in us ngng lower revenues from our channel partners. Gfithe Company’s distribution
agreements is with Ingram Micro, which accountadifé® and 23% of our revenues in the first hal?@®8 and fiscal year 2007. The
agreement with Ingram Micro under which the Compaageives the substantial majority of its IngranmciMirevenues is terminable by either
party upon 90 days’ prior written notice to theatparty, and neither party has any obligationucpase or sell any products under the
agreement. The terms of this agreement betweearndfticro and us are substantially similar to theneof the agreements we have with ¢
distributors, except for certain differences inpghént and payment terms, indemnification obligatiand product return rights. While we
believe that we have in place,
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or would have in place by the date of any such irgtion, agreements with other distributors suéfitito maintain our revenues from
distribution, if we were to lose Ingram Micro’s tlibution services, such loss could have a negatiygact on our results of operations until
such time as we arrange to replace these diswibgtrvices with the services of existing or nestridiutors.

The concentration of our product sales among a lted number of distributors increases our potent@kdit risk and could cause significal
fluctuations or declines in our product revenue

One distributor accounted for 19% and 23% of reearin the first half of 2008 and fiscal year 208dditionally, another distributor
accounted for 15% and 12% of revenues in thelimiftof 2008 and fiscal year 2007. We anticipatg sales of our products to a limited
number of distributors will continue to account #osignificant portion of our total product reveader the foreseeable future. The
concentration of product sales among certain 8istoirs increases our potential credit risks. Sohmipdistributors may experience financial
difficulties, which could adversely impact our @ation of accounts receivable. One or more of thiésteibutors could delay payments or
default on credit extended to them. Any significdalay or default in the collection of significaadcounts receivable could result in an
increased need for us to obtain working capitahfither sources, possibly on worse terms than wkldwmve negotiated if we had established
such working capital resources prior to such detaydefaults. Any significant default could resulta negative impact on our results of
operations.

We are dependent on our management and our key igraent personnel, and the loss of key personnelrpeevent us from implementing
our business plan in a timely manner.

Our success depends largely upon the continueétesrof our existing management. We are also sotistig dependent on the
continued service of our key development persoforgiroduct innovation. We generally do not havepapment or non-compete agreements
with our existing management or development persband, therefore, they could terminate their emplent with us at any time without
penalty and could pursue employment opportunitigls any of our competitors. Changes to managenmhkay employees can also lead to
additional unplanned losses of key employees. g df key employees could seriously harm ourtgibi release new products on a timely
basis and could significantly help our competitors.

Because competition for our target employees i®irge, we may not be able to attract and retain hiighly skilled employees we need
support our planned growth and our compensation exges may increas

To execute our growth plan, we must attract anaimdtighly qualified personnel. Competition for sleepersonnel is intense, especially
for engineers with high levels of experience inigieieig and developing software and senior saleswikees. We may not be successful in
attracting and retaining qualified personnel. Weehfiom time to time in the past experienced, aedewpect to continue to experience in the
future, difficulty in hiring and retaining highlkaled employees with appropriate qualificationsahy of the companies with which we
compete for experienced personnel have greatenmasothan we have. In addition, in making emplayhakecisions, particularly in the high-
technology industry, job candidates often consilervalue of the stock options, restricted sto@ants or other stock-based compensation they
are to receive in connection with their employméitite declines in the value of our stock during 2608Id adversely affect our ability to
attract or retain key employees and result in iaseel employee compensation expenses. If we fattriact new personnel or fail to retain and
motivate our current personnel, our business anadgrowth prospects could be severely harmed.

If we are unable to protect our intellectual propgrrights, our competitive position could be harmedwe could be required to inct
significant expenses to enforce our right

We depend on our ability to protect our propriet@ghnology. We rely on trade secret, patent, dghyand trademark laws and
confidentiality agreements with employees and tpadies, all of which offer only limited protectioAs such, despite our efforts, the steps we
have taken to protect our proprietary rights malyheadequate to preclude misappropriation of oopiietary information or infringement of
our intellectual property rights, and our abilibygolice such misappropriation or infringementngertain, particularly in countries outside of
the United States. Further, with respect to paights, we do not know whether any of our pendiatgpt applications will result in the
issuance of patents or whether the examinationggowill require us to narrow our claims. Evenafgnts are issued from our patent
applications, which is not certain, they may betested, circumvented or invalidated in the futiereover, the rights granted under any
issued patents may not provide us with propriepmogection or competitive advantages, and, as aithtechnology, competitors may be able
to develop similar or superior technologies to @wn now or in the future. In addition, we rely aontractual and enterprise license agreements
(“ELAs") with third parties in connection with theiise of our products and technology. There isuarantee that such parties will abide by the
terms of such agreements or that we will be abbdeguately enforce our rights, in part becauseelyeon “click-wrap” and “shrink-wrap”
licenses in some instances.
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Detecting and protecting against the unauthorizedai our products, technology and proprietarytadgd expensive, difficult and, in
some cases, impossible. Litigation may be necessahe future to enforce or defend our intelletfr@perty rights, to protect our trade sec
or to determine the validity and scope of the pietpry rights of others. Such litigation could rit$m substantial costs and diversion of
management resources, either of which could hambasiness, financial condition and results of aiens, and there is no guarantee that we
would be successful. Furthermore, many of our ciraad potential competitors have the ability tdidate substantially greater resources to
protecting their technology or intellectual progeights than do we. Accordingly, despite our e§pwe may not be able to prevent third
parties from infringing upon or misappropriating antellectual property, which could result in stantial loss of our market share.

We provide access to our hypervisor and other sel@source code to partners, which creates addgilorsk that our competitors could
develop products that are similar or better thanreu

Our success and ability to compete depend subalignipon our internally developed technology, vhis incorporated in the source
code for our products. We seek to protect the socode, design code, documentation and other wiitigterials for our software, under trade
secret and copyright laws. However, we have chts@novide access to our hypervisor and other sadesource code to more than 40 of our
partners for co-development, as well as for opetsAlBrmats and protocols. Though we generally mdrtccess to our source code and other
intellectual property, and enter into confidentiabr ELAs with such partners, as well as with earployees and consultants, our safeguards
may be insufficient to protect our trade secrets @ther rights to our technology. Our protectiveaswes may be inadequate, especially
because we may not be able to prevent our parteergloyees or consultants from violating any agmeeor licenses we may have in plac
abusing their access granted to our source codgeojar disclosure or use of our source code coelldl tompetitors develop products similar
to or better than ours.

Claims by others that we infringe their proprietatgchnology could force us to pay damages or préwenfrom using certain technology in
our products.

Third parties could claim that our products or temlbgy infringe their proprietary rights. This rigkay increase as the number of prod
and competitors in our market increases and ovedapur. In addition, to the extent that we gaeagger visibility and market exposure as a
public company, we face a higher risk of beingghbject of intellectual property infringement claimny claim of infringement by a third
party, even one without merit, could cause us tarirsubstantial costs defending against the claimd,could distract our management from our
business. Furthermore, a party making such a ciésaccessful, could secure a judgment that reguils to pay substantial damages. A
judgment could also include an injunction or otbeurt order that could prevent us from offering ptoducts. In addition, we might |
required to seek a license for the use of sucliécteal property, which may not be available omageercially reasonable terms or at all.
Alternatively, we may be required to develop nofringing technology, which could require significaffort and expense and may ultimately
not be successful. Any of these events could selsidiarm our business, operating results and fiaaoondition. Third parties may also assert
infringement claims against our customers and chigmartners. Any of these claims could requirecuisitiate or defend potentially protracted
and costly litigation on their behalf, regardle$she merits of these claims, because we gendralgmnify our customers and channel part
from claims of infringement of proprietary rightkthird parties in connection with the use of omducts. If any of these claims succeed, we
may be forced to pay damages on behalf of our meste or channel partners, which could materialtjuoe our income.

Our use of “open source” software could negativelffect our ability to sell our products and subjegs to possible litigation.

A significant portion of the products or technolegacquired, licensed or developed by us may icatp so-called “open source”
software, and we may incorporate open source stétimgo other products in the future. Such operr@msoftware is generally licensed by its
authors or other third parties under open soutaméies, including, for example, the GNU GeneraliPllicense, the GNU Lesser General
Public License, “Apache-style” licenses, “Berkegftware Distribution,” “BSD-style” licenses anchet open source licenses. We monitor
our use of open source software in an effort tadagabjecting our products to conditions we dointgnd. Although we believe that we have
complied with our obligations under the variouslaggble licenses for open source software that seeauch that we have not triggered any
such conditions, there is little or no legal pres@dyoverning the interpretation of many of thengof certain of these licenses, and therefore
the potential impact of these terms on our busiiesemewhat unknown and may result in unanticigpatdigations regarding our products ¢
technologies. For example, we may be subjectedrtaio conditions, including requirements that iferoour products that use the open so
software for no cost, that we make available sooooke for modifications or derivative works we ¢esbased upon, incorporating or using the
open source software and/or that we license sudifitations or derivative works under the termshaf particular open source license.

If an author or other third party that distribugesh open source software were to allege that wenbacomplied with the conditions of
one or more of these licenses, we could be reqtiré@ttur significant legal expenses defending agtasuch allegations. If our defenses were
not successful, we could be subject to significiarhages, enjoined from the
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distribution of our products that contained theropeurce software and required to comply with tiredoing conditions, which could disrupt
the distribution and sale of some of our productsddition, if we combine our proprietary softwavih open source software in a certain
manner, under some open source licenses we couktjb&ed to release the source code of our priapyisoftware, which could substantially
help our competitors develop products that arelaim or better than ours.

In addition to risks related to license requirersgnsage of open source software can lead to grésite than use of third party
commercial software, as open source licensors géyelo not provide warranties or assurance df titl controls on origin of the software. We
have established processes to help alleviate tigse including a review process for screeningiesis from our development organizations
for the use of open source, but we cannot be fateatl open source software is submitted for apgirprior to use in our products. In addition,
many of the risks associated with usage of opercepsuch as the lack of warranties or assurarfaétepcannot be eliminated, and could, if
not properly addressed, negatively affect our legsn

Our sales cycles can be long and unpredictable, sales efforts require considerable time and expeasd timing of sales is subject to
changing purchasing behaviors of our customers. &sesult, our sales are difficult to predict and maary substantially from quarter to
quarter, which may cause our operating results tadtuate significantly.

The timing of our revenues is difficult to predi€tur sales efforts involve educating our custonadcut the use and benefit of our
products, including their technical capabilitiestgntial cost savings to an organization and adged compared to lowepst products offere
by our competitors. Customers typically undertalsggaificant evaluation process that has in the pesulted in a lengthy sales cycle, which
typically lasts several months, and may last a pedonger. We spend substantial time, effort armhey on our sales efforts without any
assurance that our efforts will produce any sdteaddition, product purchases are frequently sttligebudget constraints, multiple approvals,
and unplanned administrative, processing and atélays. Additionally, the greater number of compedialternatives, as well as
announcements by our competitors that they intenidttoduce competitive alternatives at some piirthe future, can lengthen customer
procurement cycles, cause us to spend additianal @ind resources to educate end users on the ageartdf our product offerings and delay
product sales.

Additionally, our quarterly sales have historicalgflected an uneven pattern in which a dispropogtte percentage of a quarter’s total
sales occur in the last month, weeks and daysaif @aarter. This pattern makes prediction of reesnearnings and working capital for each
financial period especially difficult and uncertand increases the risk of unanticipated variatiorismancial condition and results of
operations. We believe this uneven sales pattearrésult of many factors including the following:

. the tendency of customers to wait until late iruarter to commit to a purchase in the hope of abtgimore favorable pricing

. the fourth quarter influence of customers spenttiedy remaining capital budget authorization ptanew budget constraints in t
first nine months of the following year; a

. seasonal influence

If sales expected from a specific customer forri@dar quarter are not realized in that quarteatoall, our results could fall short of
public expectations and our business, financiatitam and results of operations could be matsriativersely affected.

Our current research and development efforts mayt pooduce significant revenues for several yeafsat all.

Developing our products is expensive. Our investriteresearch and development may not result irketable products or may result in
products that take longer to generate revenueggmerate less revenues, than we anticipate. Oegnesand development expenses were
$233.4 million, or 26% of our total revenues, ie 8ix months ended June 30, 2008, and $285.9 milin22% of our total revenues, in 2007.
Our future plans include significant investmentsdaftware research and development and relatedipragportunities. We believe that we
must continue to dedicate a significant amounegburces to our research and development effortgiotain our competitive position.
However, we may not receive significant revenuemfthese investments for several years, if at all.

We may not be able to respond to rapid technolog@tenges with new solutions and services offeringshich could have a material
adverse effect on our sales and profitability.

The markets for our software solutions are chariete by rapid technological changes, changingoenst needs, frequent new software
product introductions and evolving industry stamidai he introduction of thirgarty solutions embodying new technologies ancethergenci
of new industry standards could make our existimg faiture software solutions obsolete and unmabiet&Ve may not be able to develop
updated products that keep pace with technologieatlopments and emerging industry standards acturess the increasingly
sophisticated needs of our customers or that
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interoperate with new or updated operating systemashardware devices or certify our products tokwaith these systems and devices. There
is no assurance that any of our new offerings wbel@ccepted in the marketplace. Significant rednstin server-related costs or the rise of
more efficient infrastructure management softwargld also affect demand for our software solutidkshardware and processors become
more powerful, we will have to adapt our produat aervice offerings to take advantage of the irswdacapabilities. For example, while the
introduction of more powerful servers presents gpootunity for us to provide better products for customers, the expected migration of
servers from dual-core to quad-core microprocetgsamology will also allow an end user with a givemmber of licensed copies of our
software to double the number of virtualization tiaes run per server socket without having to pasehadditional licenses from us. As a
result, we may not be able to accurately predietifecycle of our software solutions, and they rhagome obsolete before we receive the
amount of revenues that we anticipate from theranif of the foregoing events were to occur, oulitalio retain or increase market share and
revenues in the virtualization software market ddug materially adversely affected.

Our success depends upon our ability to develop peaducts and services, integrate acquired produatsl services and enhance our
existing products and services.

If we are unable to develop new products and sesyior to enhance and improve our products andosupgrvices in a timely manner or
to position and/or price our products and servioeseet market demand, customers may not buy néwase licenses or renew software
license updates and product support. In additimioyimation technology standards from both consantid formal standards-setting forums as
well as de facto marketplace standards are rapighyving. We cannot provide any assurance thastdwedards on which we choose to develop
new products will allow us to compete effectively business opportunities in emerging areas.

New product development and introduction involvessgaificant commitment of time and resources anslibject to a number of risks
and challenges including:

. managing the length of the development cycle fov ppoducts and product enhancements, which haadrety been longer the
we originally expectec

. managing custome’ transitions to new products, which can result itagein their purchasing decisior

. adapting to emerging and evolving industry stanslartd to technological developments by our comgretdnd customer
. entering into new or unproven markets with whichhage limited experienc

. incorporating and integrating acquired products @etinologies; an

. developing or expanding efficient sales chanr

In addition, if we cannot adapt our business mottekeep pace with industry trends, our revenuedddoe negatively impacted.

Our ability to sell our products is dependent oretiquality of our support and services offerings,dour failure to offer high-quality suppor
and services could have a material adverse effecbar sales and results of operations.

Once our products are integrated within our custshierdware and software systems, our customeysd®pgend on our support
organization to resolve any issues relating topraducts. A high level of support is critical féret successful marketing and sale of our
products. If we or our channel partners do nototiffely assist our customers in deploying our pridusucceed in helping our customers
quickly resolve post-deployment issues, and proeifiective ongoing support, our ability to sell guroducts to existing customers would be
adversely affected, and our reputation with po&miistomers could be harmed. In addition, as vpamct our operations internationally, our
support organization will face additional challesgacluding those associated with delivering suppaining and documentation in langua
other than English. As a result, our failure to mtain highguality support and services, or to adequatelystissir channel partners in providi
high-quality support and services, could resuttustomers choosing to use our competitors’ produastead of ours in the future.

We may engage in future acquisitions that could mipt our business, cause dilution to our stockhotdeand harm our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

In the future we may seek to acquire other buseggzoducts or technologies. However, we may aatie to find suitable acquisition
candidates and we may not be able to complete sitiqus on favorable terms, if at all. If we do qaete acquisitions, we may not ultimately
strengthen our competitive position or achievegnals, or they may be viewed negatively by custapfarancial markets or investors.
Acquisitions may disrupt our ongoing operationsedi management from day-to-day responsibilitiestéase our expenses and adversely
impact our business, financial condition and resoftoperations. Future acquisitions may reducecash available for operations and other
uses and could result in
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an increase in amortization expense related tdiftlhie intangible assets acquired, potentiallytilve issuances of equity securities or the
incurrence of debt. We have limited historical exgrce with the integration of acquired companid®ere can be no assurance that we will be
able to manage the integration of acquired bus@sesHectively or be able to retain and motivatg frersonnel from these businesses. Any
difficulties we encounter in the integration progesuld divert management from day-to-day respdliiss, increase our expenses and have a
material adverse effect on our business, finar@atlition and results of operations. In additioe, mview our amortizable intangible assets
impairment when events or changes in circumstaimeisate the carrying value may not be recoverabl# are required to test goodwill for
impairment at least annually. We may be requirectord a significant charge to earnings in ouafitial statements during the period in
which any impairment of our goodwill or amortizalidéangible assets resulting from an acquisitiontherwise is determined, resulting in an
adverse impact on our results of operations.

Operating in foreign countries subjects us to addital risks that may harm our ability to increasea maintain our international sales and
operations.

In 2007, we derived approximately 46%, and in tlkereonths ended June 30, 2008, we derived apprdgignd8%, of our revenues from
customers outside the United States. We have aatktechnical support personnel in numerous caswiorldwide. We expect to continue to
add personnel in additional countries. Our intéamet! operations subject us to a variety of risksluding:

. the difficulty of managing and staffing internataroffices and the increased travel, infrastructurd legal compliance cos
associated with multiple international locatio

. increased exposure to foreign currency exchangerisk;
. difficulties in enforcing contracts and collectingcounts receivable, and longer payment cyclegcésty in emerging market
. difficulties in delivering support, training and @lanentation in certain foreign marke

. tariffs and trade barriers and other regulatorgantractual limitations on our ability to sell cgwklop our products in certain fore
markets;

. economic or political instability and security cemnas in countries that are important to our intdomal sales and operatior
. the overlap of different tax structures or chanigdaternational tax laws

. reduced protection for intellectual property righteluding reduced protection from software pirétygome countries

. difficulties in transferring funds from certain agties; anc

. difficulties in maintaining appropriate controldating to revenue recognition practic

As we continue to expand our business globally,soiecess will depend, in large part, on our abibtanticipate and effectively manage
these and other risks associated with our intesnatioperations. We expect a significant portioowf growth to occur in foreign countries
which can add to the difficulties in establishimglanaintaining adequate management systems anmdaht®ntrols over financial reporting a
increase challenges in managing an organizatioratipg in various countries.

Our failure to manage any of these risks succdgsfalld harm our international operations and pedour international sales.
Our products are highly technical and may contaimrers, which could cause harm to our reputation aradiversely affect our business.

Our products are highly technical and complex arften deployed, have contained and may containgrdefects or security
vulnerabilities. Some errors in our products maly tre discovered after a product has been installetlused by customers. Any errors, del
or security vulnerabilities discovered in our protduafter commercial release could result in Idsgwenues or delay in revenue recognition,
loss of customers and increased service and wsreast, any of which could adversely affect ouribess, financial condition and results of
operations. Undiscovered vulnerabilities in ourduats could expose them to hackers or other unatoug third parties who develop and
deploy viruses, worms, and other malicious softwaograms that could attack our products. Actuglenceived security vulnerabilities in our
products could harm our reputation and lead sorstomers to return products, to reduce or delayéupurchases or use competitive products.
End users, who rely on our products and servicethiointeroperability of enterprise servers anpligptions that are critical to their
information systems, may have a greater sensitivigyroduct errors and security vulnerabilitiesntha
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customers for software products generally. Any ggcbreaches could lead to interruptions, delays data loss and protection concerns. In
addition, we could face claims for product lialyilitort or breach of warranty, including claimsataig to changes to our products made by our
channel partners. Our contracts with customersadomirovisions relating to warranty disclaimers #adility limitations, which may not be
upheld. Defending a lawsuit, regardless of its meyicostly and time-consuming and may divert ngagnaent’s attention and adversely affect
the market’s perception of us and our productsddition, if our business liability insurance ccage proves inadequate or future coverage is
unavailable on acceptable terms or at all, ourriass, financial condition and results of operatiomdd be adversely impacted.

Our independent registered public accounting firmentified a material weakness in the design and igtion of our internal controls as of
December 31, 2006, which we remediated in 2007.cafeot assure you that material weaknesses will agist or be identified in future
periods.

Our independent registered public accounting fieported to our board of directors a material weagrie the design and operation of
internal controls as of December 31, 2006 relatettie capitalization of software development cotmaterial weakness is defined by the
standards issued by the Public Company Accountier€ght Board as a more than remote likelihood ah@aterial misstatement of the
annual or interim financial statements will notdrevented or detected. The material weakness eelsintim a lack of adequate internal cont
to ensure the timely identification and accumulatid costs once a project reaches technologicallfgitdy under applicable accounting
standards. Our historical consolidated financialeshents reflect adjustments to properly statecapitalized software development costs for
the periods included therein. Our independent tegid public accounting firm was not engaged tdtdhd effectiveness of our internal cont
over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006uth an evaluation had been performed, additiovaérial weaknesses may have been
identified. Our independent registered public actimg firm was also not engaged to audit the eiffeciess of our internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2007. Ifrsein evaluation had been performed, material wessiasemay have been identified.

We remediated the material weakness found in darnal controls as of December 31, 2006 by impleingradditional formal policies,
procedures and processes, hiring additional accwupersonnel and increasing management reviewpaerbsight over the financial statement
close process. Under Section 404 of the Sarban&st@xt of 2002 and the current rules of the SE@,management and independent
registered public accounting firm will be requitedevaluate and report on the effectiveness ofrdarnal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2008. If additional material weakne&s@ur internal controls are discovered in therfe, we may fail to meet our future
reporting obligations, our financial statements roagtain material misstatements and the price otommon stock may decline.

If we fail to implement and maintain an effective/stem of internal controls, we may not be able tzarately report our financial results o
prevent fraud. As a result, our stockholders coldgse confidence in our financial reporting, whichozild harm our business and the tradir
price of our common stock

We are preparing for compliance with Section 404dwediating the previously identified material We@ss in our internal controls and
by assessing, strengthening and testing our systémternal controls. In particular, we believe wil need to increase the number of our
accounting personnel and improve our processesystdms to ensure timely and accurate reportirggofinancial results in accordance with
reporting obligations as a stand-alone public camgpblowever, the continuous process of strengtlgeainr internal controls and complying
with Section 404 is expensive and tim@asuming, and requires significant managementtite We cannot be certain that these measuré
provide adequate control over our financial proessmnd reporting. In addition, we have identifiedain processes that need to be automated
in order to ensure that we have effective intecoaltrol over financial reporting. If we are notalb automate these processes in a timely
fashion, we will not be able to ensure compliakeethermore, as we grow our business, our interoadrols will become more complex and
we will require significantly more resources to @msour internal controls overall remain effectiailure to implement required new or
improved controls, or difficulties encounteredhieit implementation, could harm our operating rssoi cause us to fail to meet our reporting
obligations. If we or our independent registeredlipiaccounting firm identify material weaknesstg, disclosure of that fact, even if quickly
remedied, could reduce the market’s confidenceuirfinancial statements and harm our stock priceddition, if we are unable to comply
with Section 404, our non-compliance could subjecto a variety of administrative sanctions, inahgdhe suspension or delisting of our
common stock from the New York Stock Exchange &edniability of registered broker-dealers to makeaaket in our common stock, which
could further reduce our stock price.

Problems with our information systems could interéewith our business and operation

We rely on our information systems and those afitparties for processing customer orders, delieégroducts, providing services and
support to our customers, billing and tracking customers, fulfilling contractual obligations, apitherwise running our business. Any
disruption in our information systems and thos¢hefthird parties upon whom we rely could havegaificant impact on our business. In
addition, we are in the process of enhancing diarmmation systems. The implementation of thesegygfeenhancements is frequently
disruptive to the underlying business of an entsepmwhich
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may especially be the case for us due to the sidecamplexity of our businesses. Any disruptioratieg to our systems enhancements,
particularly any disruptions impacting our operati@uring the implementation period, could adveraéflect our business in a number of
respects. Even if we do not encounter these adedfesets, the implementation of these enhancermmaaisbe much more costly than we

anticipated. If we are unable to successfully imp@at the information systems enhancements as glaone financial position, results of
operations, and cash flows could be negatively otgzh

If we fail to manage future growth effectively, waay not be able to meet our custon’ needs or be able to meet our future reporting
obligations.

We have expanded our operations significantly sinception and anticipate that further significarpansion will be required. This
future growth, if it occurs, will place significademands on our management, infrastructure and mgheurces. To manage any future growth,
we will need to hire, integrate and retain hightiled and motivated employees. We will also nesddntinue to improve our financial and
management controls, reporting and operationaésystand procedures. If we do not effectively mamagegrowth we may not be able to
our customers’ needs, thereby adversely affectirgsales, or be able to meet our future reportisigyations.

We may have exposure to additional income tax |ldigis.

We are subject to income taxes in both the UnitateS and various foreign jurisdictions. Our dorigemtd international tax liabilities a
subject to the allocation of revenues and expeinséiferent jurisdictions and the timing of recaging revenues and expenses. Additionally,
the amount of income taxes paid is subject to otarpretation of applicable tax laws in the jurgiins in which we file and changes to tax
laws. For example, renewal of the U.S. researchdawelopment tax credit which benefited our tar tat approximately 4 percentage point
2007 is uncertain from year to year and it cursesthnds repealed for 2008. From time to time, veesabject to income tax audits. While we
believe we have complied with all applicable incatave laws, there can be no assurance that a goxgetauk authority will not have a different
interpretation of the law and assess us with aoftili taxes. Should we be assessed with additiarabt there could be a material adverse ¢
on our financial condition or results of operations

Our business is subject to the risks of earthquakié®, floods and other natural catastrophic eventand to interruption by man-made
problems, such as computer viruses or terrorism,iefhcould result in delays or cancellations of casher orders or the deployment of o
products.

Our corporate headquarters are located in the &arcisco Bay Area, a region known for seismic atgtiVA significant natural disaster,
such as an earthquake, fire or a flood, could lzanmterial adverse impact on our business, finhooradition and results of operations. As we
continue to grow internationally, increasing amauuitour business will be located in foreign coiastthat may be more subject to political or
social instability that could disrupt operations.alddition, our servers are vulnerable to compuiteses, break-ins and similar disruptions from
unauthorized tampering with our computer systeragthErmore, acts of terrorism or war could causeugitions in our or our customers’
business or the economy as a whole. To the extahstich disruptions result in delays or canceltetiof customer orders, or the deploymel
our products, our revenues would be adversely t&itec

Risks Related to Our Relationship with EMC

As long as EMC controls us, holders of our Classs8mmon stock will have limited ability to influenamatters requiring stockholde
approval.

As of June 30, 2008, EMC owned 26,500,000 sharesiio€lass A common stock and all 300,000,000 shaffeur Class B common
stock, representing approximately 84% of the totastanding shares of common stock or 98% of thimg@ower of outstanding common
stock. The holders of our Class A common stock@mdClass B common stock have identical rightstguesmces and privileges except with
respect to voting and conversion rights, the edectif directors, certain actions that require tbesent of holders of Class B common stock and
other protective provisions as set forth in outifieate of incorporation. Holders of our Class &mwmon stock are entitled to 10 votes per s
of Class B common stock on all matters exceptHerdlection of our Group Il directors, in which edkey are entitled to one vote per share,
and the holders of our Class A common stock aréemhto one vote per share of Class A common stdbk holders of Class B common stt
voting separately as a class, are entitled to 8@%t of the total number of directors on our baafrdirectors that we would have if there were
no vacancies on our board of directors at the tithese are our Group | directors. Subject to aglytsi of any series of preferred stock to elect
directors, the holders of Class A common stocktarcholders of Class B common stock, voting togedisea single class, are entitled to elect
our remaining directors, which at no time will les$ than one director—our Group 1l director(s).résaf Class B common stock are entitled
to one vote per share when voting for such remgidirectors. Accordingly, the holders of our Cl8sommon stock currently are entitled to
elect directors for 8 of the 9 seats on our BoHHMC transfers shares of our Class B common stockny party other than a successor-in-
interest or a subsidiary of EMC (other than in stritbution to its stockholders under Section 355hefInternal Revenue Code of 1986, as
amended, or the Code, or in transfers followinchsaidistribution), those shares will automaticalyvert into Class A common
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stock. For so long as EMC or its successor-in-ggebeneficially owns shares of our common stopkesenting at least a majority of the votes
entitled to be cast by the holders of outstandiiing stock, EMC will be able to elect all of thembers of our board of directors.

In addition, until such time as EMC or its succedsenterest beneficially owns shares of our comnstock representing less than a
majority of the votes entitled to be cast by thédhos of outstanding voting stock, EMC will have thbility to take stockholder action without
the vote of any other stockholder and without hgvimcall a stockholder meeting, and holders of@ass A common stock will not be able to
affect the outcome of any stockholder vote durlrg period. As a result, EMC will have the abilitycontrol all matters affecting us, includi

. the composition of our board of directors and, tigtoour board of directors, any determination wétkpect to our business ple
and policies

. any determinations with respect to mergers, adipis and other business combinatic
. our acquisition or disposition of asse

. our financing activities

. certain changes to our certificate of incorporat

. changes to the agreements providing for our triemsio becoming a public compar

. corporate opportunities that may be suitable foand EMC;

. determinations with respect to enforcement of gl may have against third parties, including wétpect to intellectual propel
rights;

. the payment of dividends on our common stock;

. the number of shares available for issuance ungiestock plans for our prospective and existing leyges.

Our certificate of incorporation and the mastensiction agreement between us and EMC also camtauisions that require that as lo
as EMC beneficially owns at least 20% or more efdhtstanding shares of our common stock, the pffomative vote or written consent of

EMC (or its successor-in-interest) as the holdahefClass B common stock is required (subjecathecase to certain exceptions) in order to
authorize us to:

. consolidate or merge with any other ent

. acquire the stock or assets of another entity aeesx of $100 million

. issue any stock or securities except to our sudsedi or pursuant to our employee benefit pl
. establish the aggregate annual amount of shar@sayéssue in equity award

. dissolve, liquidate or wind us u

. declare dividends on our stoc

. enter into any exclusive or exclusionary arrangemséth a third party involving, in whole or in pagroducts or services that ¢
similar to EMC's; and

. amend, terminate or adopt any provision inconsistéth certain provisions of our certificate of orporation or bylaws

If EMC does not provide any requisite consent allgaus to conduct such activities when requestedywill not be able to conduct such
activities and, as a result, our business and perating results may be harmed.

EMC’s voting control and its additional rights debed above may discourage transactions involviogange of control of us, including
transactions in which holders of our Class A comrmsimtk might otherwise receive a premium for tisbiares over the then-current market
price. EMC is not prohibited from selling a conlir) interest in us to a third party and may dasihout the approval of the holders of our
Class A common stock and without providing for aghase of any shares of Class A common stock hefetsons other than EMC.
Accordingly, shares of Class A common stock maybeh less than they would be if EMC did not maimt@oting control over us or have the
additional rights described above.

In the event EMC is acquired or otherwise undergoelsange of control, any acquirer or successombeientitled to exercise the voting
control and contractual rights of EMC, and may darnsa manner that could vary significantly fronatlof EMC.
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By becoming a stockholder in our company, holdésun Class A common stock are deemed to haveaofiand have consented to the
provisions of our certificate of incorporation athé master transaction agreement with respecettirttitations that are described above.

Our business and that of EMC overlap, and EMC magnepete with us, which could reduce our market share

EMC and we are both IT infrastructure companievigiing products related to storage management,-backlisaster recovery, security,
system management and automation, provisioningesalirce management. There can be no assuran&MRatvill not engage in increased
competition with us in the future. In addition, tiéellectual property agreement that we have entérto with EMC will provide EMC the
ability to use our source code and intellectuapprty, which, subject to limitations, it may useptoduce certain products that compete with
ours. EMC'’s rights in this regard extend to its on&y-owned subsidiaries, which could include jonentures where EMC holds a majority
position and one or more of our competitors holdarity positions.

EMC could assert control over us in a manner whimld impede our growth or our ability to enter nearkets or otherwise adversely
affect our business. Further, EMC could utilizecitétrol over us to cause us to take or refraimftaking certain actions, including entering
into relationships with channel, technology andeotmarketing partners, enforcing our intellectualgerty rights or pursuing corporate
opportunities or product development initiativeattbould adversely affect our competitive positimejuding our competitive position relative
to that of EMC in markets where we compete withrth&n addition, EMC maintains significant partnépshwith certain of our competitors,
including Microsoft.

EMC’s competition in certain markets may affect our itity to build and maintain partnerships.

Our existing and potential partner relationshipy fn@ affected by our relationship with EMC. We partwith a number of companies
that compete with EMC in certain markets in whidl& participates. EMC’s majority ownership in us tmigffect our ability to effectively
partner with these companies. These companies avay bur competitors because of our relationship EMC.

EMC competes with certain of our significant chdntechnology and other marketing partners, incigdBM and Hewlett-Packard.
Pursuant to our certificate of incorporation andeotagreements that we have with EMC, EMC may tias@bility to impact our relationship
with those of our partners that compete with EM@ijol could have a material adverse effect on osulte of operations or our ability to
pursue opportunities which may otherwise be avkl&bus.

Our historical financial information as a businessegment of EMC may not be representative of ourutesas an independent public
company.

Our historical financial information we have incadlin this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q does maessarily reflect what our
financial position, results of operations or cdslvé would have been had we been an independatyt dating those historical periods. The
historical costs and expenses reflected in ouraatated financial statements include an allocafarcertain corporate functions historically
provided by EMC, including tax, accounting, tregsidegal and human resources services. This histiofinancial information is not
necessarily indicative of what our financial pasiti results of operations or cash flows will béha future. We have not made pro forma
adjustments to reflect many significant changeswlilhoccur in our cost structure, funding and cgg@®ns as a result of our becoming a public
company, including changes in our employee bagengial increased costs associated with reducedogcies of scale and increased costs
associated with being a publicly traded, stand-@loompany. For additional information, see “Managetis Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and historical consolidated financial statements aotes thereto.

Our ability to operate our business effectively msyffer if we are unable to cost-effectively estiahlour own administrative and other
support functions in order to operate as a stealone company after the expiration of our trangitial services agreements with EMC.

Before the completion of our initial public offegr{*IPO”) in August 2007, in which we issued andids87,950,000 shares of our Class A
common stock, we were a wholly-owned subsidiarZ®ifC and we relied on administrative and other resesiof EMC to operate our
business. In connection with our IPO, we enteréal \arious service agreements with EMC to retafnability for specified periods to use
these EMC resources. These services may not be&pobat the same level as when we were a whollyeohgubsidiary of EMC, and we may
not be able to obtain the same benefits that weived prior to our IPO. These services may notuficient to meet our needs, and after our
agreements with EMC expire, we may not be ableptace these services at all or obtain these ssratprices and on terms as favorable as
we currently have with EMC. We will need to create own administrative and other support systenatract with third parties to replace
EMC'’s systems. In addition, we have received infalrsupport from EMC which may not be addressethénagreements we have entered into
with EMC; the level of this informal support maymdhish as we become a more independent companyfailnye or significant downtime in
our own administrative systems or in EMC’s admiaiste systems during the transitional period coekllt in unexpected costs, impact our
results and/or prevent us from paying our supplemsmployees and performing other administratereises on a timely basis.

40



Table of Contents

In order to preserve the ability for EMC to distrite its shares of our Class B common stock on &-free basis, we may be prevented from
pursuing opportunities to raise capital, to effectte acquisitions or to provide equity incentivesaior employees, which could hurt ot
ability to grow.

Beneficial ownership of at least 80% of the totating power and 80% of each class of nonvotingteaptock is required in order for
EMC to effect a tax-free spin-off of VMware or crt other tax-free transactions. We have agregddhao long as EMC or its successor-in-
interest continues to own greater than 50% of titang control of our outstanding common stock, wik mot knowingly take or fail to take ar
action that could reasonably be expected to precEMC'’s or its successor-in-interest’s ability tdertake a tax-free spin-off. Additionally,
under our certificate of incorporation and the reastansaction agreement we entered into with EM&€must obtain the consent of EMC or
successor-in-interest, as the holder of our ClassrBmon stock, to issue stock or other VMware d8esr excluding pursuant to employee
benefit plans (provided that we obtain Class B camstockholder approval of the aggregate annuabeurof shares to be granted under such
plans), which could cause us to forgo capital ngisir acquisition opportunities that would otheenvige available to us. As a result, we may be
precluded from pursuing certain growth initiatives.

Third parties may seek to hold us responsible fiabilities of EMC, which could result in a decrease our income.

Third parties may seek to hold us responsible CEs liabilities. Under our master transaction agrent with EMC, EMC will
indemnify us for claims and losses relating toiliibs related to EMC’s business and not relatedur business. However, if those liabilities
are significant and we are ultimately held lialie them, we cannot be certain that we will be ableecover the full amount of our losses from
EMC.

Although we have entered into a tax sharing agreemwith EMC under which our tax liabilities effectiely will be determined as if we we
not part of any consolidated, combined or unitagxtgroup of EMC Corporation and/or its subsidiariea/e nonetheless could be held liable
for the tax liabilities of other members of theseogips.

We have historically been included in EMC's condated group for U.S. federal income tax purposesyell as in certain consolidated,
combined or unitary groups that include EMC Corgioraand/or certain of its subsidiaries for statd &écal income tax purposes. Pursuant to
our tax sharing agreement with EMC, we and EMC galyewill make payments to each other such thdt) wespect to tax returns for any
taxable period in which we or any of our subsidiarare included in EMC'’s consolidated group for.BeBeral income tax purposes or any
other consolidated, combined or unitary group of&E®orporation and/or its subsidiaries, the amofitdixes to be paid by us will be
determined, subject to certain adjustments, agiémd each of our subsidiaries included in suclksadatated, combined or unitary group filed
our own consolidated, combined or unitary tax metur

Prior to our IPO in August 2007, we were includedhe EMC consolidated group for U.S. federal inedax purposes, and expect to
continue to be included in such consolidated grfoaperiods in which EMC owned at least 80% of tibial voting power and value of our
outstanding stock. Each member of a consolidatedmduring any part of a consolidated return ysgmintly and severally liable for tax on-
consolidated return of such year and for any sulesstty determined deficiency thereon. Similarlysame jurisdictions, each member of a
consolidated, combined or unitary group for sthteal or foreign income tax purposes is jointly aederally liable for the state, local or
foreign income tax liability of each other membéthe consolidated, combined or unitary group. Adaagly, for any period in which we are
included in the EMC consolidated group for U.S ied income tax purposes or any other consolidatabined or unitary group of EMC
Corporation and/or its subsidiaries, we could bblé in the event that any income tax liability viraurred, but not discharged, by any other
member of any such group.

Any inability to resolve favorably any disputes trarise between us and EMC with respect to our pastl ongoing relationships may rest
in a significant reduction of our revenues and edngys.

Disputes may arise between EMC and us in a numftemeas relating to our ongoing relationships,udaig:
. labor, tax, employee benefit, indemnification atigdeo matters arising from our separation from E}
. employee retention and recruitir

. business combinations involving

. our ability to engage in activities with certainacimel, technology or other marketing partn

. sales or dispositions by EMC of all or any port@drits ownership interest in u

. the nature, quality and pricing of services EMC agseed to provide u

. arrangements with third parties that are exclusipt@ EMC;

. business opportunities that may be attractive th E®&C and us; an
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. product or technology development or marketingvéteds or customer agreements which may requiretmsent of EMC

We may not be able to resolve any potential caisfliand even if we do, the resolution may be lagerable than if we were dealing with
an unaffiliated party.

The agreements we entered into with EMC in conoaatiith our IPO may be amended upon agreement ket parties. While we ¢
controlled by EMC, we may not have the leveragedgotiate amendments to these agreements if relquiréerms as favorable to us as those
we would negotiate with an unaffiliated third party

Some of our directors and executive officers own EMommon stock, restricted shares of EMC commorcktor options to acquire EM(
common stock and hold management positions with EM@ich could cause conflicts of interests that tatsin our not acting on
opportunities we otherwise may have.

Some of our directors and executive officers own@Esbdmmon stock and/or options to purchase EMC comstack. In addition, some
of our directors are executive officers and/or clives of EMC. Ownership of EMC common stock, reséil shares of EMC common stock and
options to purchase EMC common stock by our dirscaod officers and the presence of executiveerffior directors of EMC on our board
directors could create, or appear to create, aisftif interest with respect to matters involvirggtbus and EMC that could have different
implications for EMC than they do for us. Provisiaof our certificate of incorporation and the mastensaction agreement between EMC and
us address corporate opportunities that are pregéatour directors or officers that are also doexor officers of EMC. There can be no
assurance that the provisions in our certificatmobrporation or the master transaction agreeméhadequately address potential conflicts of
interest or that potential conflicts of interestlle resolved in our favor or that we will be albibetake advantage of corporate opportunities
presented to individuals who are officers or divestof both us and EMC. As a result, we may belpded from pursuing certain growth
initiatives.

EMC's ability to control our board of directors may rke it difficult for us to recruit independent dirdors.

So long as EMC beneficially owns shares of our camstock representing at least a majority of thiev@ntitled to be cast by the
holders of outstanding voting stock, EMC can effedy control and direct our board of directorsrifer, the interests of EMC and our other
stockholders may diverge. Under these circumstampezsons who might otherwise accept our invitat@join our board of directors may
decline.

We are a “controlled company” within the meaning ¢iie New York Stock Exchange rules, and, as a résate relying on exemptions from
certain corporate governance requirements that pises protection to stockholders of companies thatarot “controlled companies.”

EMC owns more than 50% of the total voting poweoof common shares and, as a result, we are artdieat company” under the New
York Stock Exchange corporate governance standasia.controlled company, we are exempted undeN#we York Stock Exchange
standards from the obligation to comply with certiiew York Stock Exchange corporate governanceireqpents, including the requiremer

. that a majority of our board of directors consaftindependent director

. that we have a corporate governance and nominatimgnittee that is composed entirely of independ@ettors with a writtel
charter addressing the commi’s purpose and responsibilitie

. that we have a compensation committee that is ceatpentirely of independent directors with a wnittharter addressing tl
committef s purpose and responsibilities; ¢

. for an annual performance evaluation of the nonrigaind governance committee and compensation ctie&n

While we have voluntarily caused our Compensatiwh @orporate Governance Committee to currentlydmeposed entirely of
independent directors in compliance with the resmients of the New York Stock Exchange, we are equired to maintain the independent
composition of the committee. As a result of our abthe “controlled company” exemptions, holdersur Class A common stock will not
have the same protection afforded to stockholdecempanies that are subject to all of the New Y®tick Exchange corporate governance
requirements.

Risks Related to Owning Our Class A Common Stock

Our Class A common stock has only been publiclyded since August 14, 2007 and the price of our Gldscommon stock has fluctuated
substantially since then and may fluctuate substatly in the future.

Our Class A common stock has only been publiclgedasince our IPO on August 14, 2007. The tradimgepf our Class A common
stock has fluctuated significantly since then. &ample, between September 30, 2007 and July 88, 28 closing trading price of our
Class A common stock was very volatile, rangingveein $33.33 and $124.83 per share, including sidayeincreases of up to 13% and
declines up to 34%. Our trading price could fluttusubstantially in the future due to the factasgwssed in this Risk Factors section and
elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.
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Substantial amounts of Class A common stock ar inebur employees, EMC, Intel Corporation (“Injedhd Cisco Systems (“Cisco”),
and all of the shares of our Class B common stablich may be converted to Class A common stock upguoest of the holder, are held by
EMC. Contractual restrictions on the sale of shhedd by EMC expired in February 2008 and will egdor the shares held by Cisco and Intel
in August 2008. Shares of Class A common stock bglEMC (including shares of Class A common stdak tight be issued upon the
conversion of Class B common stock) are eligibtestde subject to the volume, manner of sale ahdratstrictions of Rule 144 of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1933 which allow thedeolto sell up to the greater of 1% of our outstaglass A common stock or our average
weekly trading volume during any three-month peand following the expiration of their contractuestrictions, shares held by Cisco and
Intel will be subject to such requirements to tkieet Cisco and Intel are deemed to be our “afékd as that term is defined in Rule 144,
Additionally, EMC, Cisco and Intel possess regtitrarights with respect to the shares of our commstock that they hold. If they choose to
exercise such rights, their sale of the sharesattgategistered would not be subject to the Rulelitditations. If a significant amount of the
shares that become eligible for resale enter théiguading markets in a short period of time, tharket price of our Class A common stock
may decline.

Additionally, broad market and industry factors niiecrease the market price of our Class A comnmokstegardless of our actual
operating performance. The stock market in genaral,technology companies in particular, also laftien experienced extreme price and
volume fluctuations. In addition, in the past, éeling periods of volatility in the overall marketdithe market price of a company’s securities,
securities class action litigation has often bewstituted against these companies. This litigatifonstituted against us, could result in
substantial costs and a diversion of our managématténtion and resources.

If securities or industry analysts do not publishr coease publishing research or reports about usy business or our market, or if the
change their recommendations regarding our stockvadsely, our stock price and trading volume couldatine.

The trading market for our Class A common stock beélinfluenced by the research and reports tithtdgtry or securities analysts may
publish about us, our business, our market or ompetitors. If any of the analysts who may covechsnge their recommendation regarding
our stock adversely, or provide more favorabletredarecommendations about our competitors, owkspoice would likely decline. If any
analyst who may cover us were to cease coveragerafompany or fail to regularly publish reportsum we could lose visibility in the
financial markets, which in turn could cause oocktprice or trading volume to decline.

Delaware law and our certificate of incorporationna bylaws contain an-takeover provisions that could delay or discourag&eover
attempts that stockholders may consider favorable.

Provisions in our certificate of incorporation amdaws will have the effect of delaying or prevengtia change of control or changes in
our management. These provisions include the fatigw

. the division of our board of directors into thrdasses, with each class serving for a staggeree-year term, which would preve
stockholders from electing an entirely new boardicdctors at any annual meetir

. the right of the board of directors to elect a clioe to fill a vacancy created by the expansiothefboard of director:

. following a distribution of Class B common stock BWIC to its stockholders, the restriction that adfecial owner of 10% or mor
of our Class B common stock may not vote in angtaa of directors unless such person or group a¥ges at least an equivalent
percentage of Class A common stock or obtains ajppid our board of directors prior to acquiringieécial ownership of at least
5% of Class B common stoc

. the prohibition of cumulative voting in the electiof directors or any other matters, which wouldestvise allow less than
majority of stockholders to elect director candéta

. the requirement for advance notice for nominatimn®lection to the board of directors or for preppy matters that can be acted
upon at a stockholde' meeting;

. the ability of the board of directors to issue,hailit stockholder approval, up to 100,000,000 shafrpseferred stock with terms set
by the board of directors, which rights could beigeto those of common stock; a

. in the event that EMC or its succesin-interest no longer owns shares of our common stefesenting at least a majority of -
votes entitled to be cast in the election of dmexitstockholders may not act by written consedtraay not call special meetings of
the stockholders
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Until such time as EMC or its successor-in-intecestses to beneficially own 20% or more of thetaatiing shares of our common
stock, the affirmative vote or written consentlué holders of a majority of the outstanding shafdbe Class B common stock will be required
to:

. amend certain provisions of our bylaws or certificaf incorporation

. make certain acquisitions or dispositio

. declare dividends, or undertake a recapitalizatioliquidation;

. adopt any stockholder rights ple“poison pil” or other similar arrangemer

. approve any transactions that would involve a memgnsolidation, restructuring, sale of substalytel of our assets or any of o
subsidiaries or otherwise result in any persomtityeobtaining control of us or any of our subsidés; ot

. undertake certain other actiol

In addition, we have elected to apply the provisiohSection 203 of the Delaware General Corpandtiw. These provisions may
prohibit large stockholders, in particular thosenavg 15% or more of our outstanding voting stoc&nf merging or combining with us. These
provisions in our certificate of incorporation aoylaws and under Delaware law could discouragenpiaietakeover attempts and could reduce
the price that investors might be willing to pay éhares of our common stock.

Intel’'s and Cisco’s (“Cisco”) ownership relationship witus and the membership on our board of individugdeoposed by Intel and Cisco
may create actual or potential conflicts of intetes

As a result of an investment by Intel Capital im @lass A common stock in August 2007, Intel haswanership interest in us and
pursuant to Intel’s right to designate a directregptable to our board of directors, we appointethtel executive to our board of directors.
Cisco, pursuant to its purchase of our Class A comsiock from EMC, also has an ownership relatignelith us, and we appointed an
executive officer of Cisco (since retired from tpasition) proposed by Cisco as one of our directbhese relationships may create actual or
potential conflicts of interest and the best inégef Intel or Cisco may not reflect the bestriests of other holders of our Class A common
stock.

As a public company we incur costs and face demaod®ur management in addition to the costs and deds we faced prior to our initia
public offering.

As a public company, we incur significant legalc@anting and other expenses that we did not dyréatiur as a private company. In
addition, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, as welhe rules subsequently implemented by the SEGhenNew York Stock Exchange, have
required changes in corporate governance pradatifcesblic companies. These rules and regulatione Irecreased and will continue to
increase our legal and financial compliance coststa make some activities more time-consumingasdly. For example, in connection with
becoming a public company, we have added indepeniiferctors and may add more, created additionatdoommittees and adopted certain
policies regarding internal controls and discloszortrols and procedures and may expand those guoe In addition, we will incur
additional costs associated with our public compamprting requirements. We are currently evalgaéind monitoring developments with
respect to these rules, and we cannot predicttonae the amount of additional costs we may irauhe timing of such costs. Furthermore,
our management will have increased demands omiésih order to ensure we comply with public compagporting requirements and the
compliance requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley A2002, as well as the rules subsequently impleatehy the SEC and the applicable
requirements of the New York Stock Exchange.

Item 2. UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS
(a) Sales of Unregistered Securities
None.

(b) Use of Proceeds from Public Offering of ComrStock
None.



(c) Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuek Affiliated Purchasers

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities during ttegtquended June 30, 2008:

Total Number

of Shares

Period Purchased
April 1 — April 30, 2008 26,40¢
May 1- May 31, 200¢ 27,78¢
June 1- June 30, 200 229,64¢
283,83¢
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Average Price
Paid Per Shar¢

$ 66.5¢
68.4:
66.2¢

66.4¢

Total Number of
Shares Purchase!
as Part of Publicly
Announced Plans
or Programs

Approximate Dollar
Value of Shares Tha
May Yet Be
Purchased Under tht
Publicly Announced
Plans or Programs
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We do not have a publicly announced stock repurchasgram. All shares referenced in the above table withheld through net share
settlements during the fiscal quarter ending Juhe€808 upon the vesting of restricted stock umderequity compensation plan to satisfy tax
withholding obligations.

Iltem 3. DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES
None.

Item 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS
We held our 2008 Annual Meeting of Stockholderg (tAnnual Meeting”) on May 14, 2008. At the AnniMeéeting, our stockholders:
1. elected one Class | Group Il director and two ClaSsoup | directors to each serve a tl-year term

2. ratified the selection by the Audit Committee of tBoard of Directors of PricewaterhouseCoopers aEBur independent auditc
for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2008,

3. approved the VMware, Inc. 2007 Equity IncentiverP

Each share of Class A common stock was entitleh&ovote and each share of Class B common stoclemtédked to ten votes on all
matters submitted to a vote of stockholders, exagthtrespect to the election of a Group Il Membgthe Board, for which each share of Cl
B Common Stock was entitled to one vote. Groupéaldrs are elected by our sole Class B commorkistdder and Group |l directors are
elected our by Class A common stockholders andCéass B common stockholder voting together as ssclBhe results of the votes for eac
the above proposals were as follows:

1. Election of Directors

Class In Favor Against
Renee J. James (Group Il direct Class # 70,216,20 660,75!
Class E 300,000,00 —
John R. Egan (Group | directc Class E  3,000,000,00 —
Joseph M. Tucci (Group | directc Class E 3,000,000,00 —

2. Ratified the selection by the Audit Committee of Board of Directors of PricewaterhouseCoopers &EBur independent auditc
for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2C

Class In Favor Against Abstain
Class # 70,713,02 121,99 44,36¢
Class E 3,000,000,00 — —

3. Approved the VMware, Inc. 2007 Equity Incentive Pl

Class In Favor Against  Abstain
Class # 70,078,44 667,56 123,36¢
Class E 3,000,000,00 — —

Item 5. OTHER INFORMATION

On July 10, 2008, VMware filed a current reportFmrm 8-K with the SEC regarding the departure afrigi Greene as the Company’s
President and Chief Executive Officer, effectiveyJi 2008. Under the terms of Ms. Greene’s empleghagreement, filed as an exhibit to
VMware's Form 10-Q for the period ended June 3@72@he last day of her employment with VMware wWagust 6, 2008 and she is deemed
to have resigned from VMware’s Board of Directonstbat date.

Item 6. EXHIBITS

31.1 Certification of Principal Executive Officer reged by Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a) of the SgesiExchange Act of
1934, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of theafia-Oxley Act of 2002

31.z Certification of Principal Financial Officer reqait by Rule 13-14(a) or Rule 15-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act
1934, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of theafia-Oxley Act of 2002
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32.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuantaticBe906 of the

Sarbane-Oxley Act of 2002

32.z  Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuantdiioBe906 of the
Sarbane-Oxley Act of 2002

46



Table of Contents

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f{the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, therednlp authorized.

VMWARE, INC.

Dated: August 8, 200 By: /sl MARK S. PEEK
Mark S. Peel
Chief Financial Office
(Principal Financial Officer and Duly Authorized f@@&r)
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EXHIBIT INDEX

31.1 Certification of Principal Executive Officer reged by Rule 132-14(a) or Rule 15-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Acl
1934, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of thieafia-Oxley Act of 2002

31.z Certification of Principal Financial Officer reqait by Rule 13-14(a) or Rule 15-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act
1934, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of theaBa-Oxley Act of 2002

32.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuantdticBe906 of the
Sarbane-Oxley Act of 2002

32.z  Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuantdiioBe906 of the
Sarbane-Oxley Act of 2002
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Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

[, Paul Maritz, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Forn-Q of VMware, Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiomny untrue statement of a material fact or améitate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circunt&ts under which such statements were made, nk#adisg with respect to the period
covered by this repor

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statemeamts,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operat and cash flows of the registrant as of, andtfe periods presented in this rep

4.  The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) alngre responsible for establishing and maintaimisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules -15(e) and 15-15(e)) for the registrant and ha

a. Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresused such disclosure controls and procedutes tiesigned under o
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgubsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly dgyithe period in which this report is being prepa

b. [Paragraph omitted in accordance with SEC Rele4-47986]

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registratisslosure controls and procedures and presentdsineport our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andgulures, as of the end of the period coveredibyéport based on such
evaluation; ant

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the regid’s internal control over financial reporting thatooed during the registré' s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodiikbal quarter in the case of an annual repo#) tias materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’ s internal control over financial reporting; e

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anldave disclosed, based on our most recent evafuat internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmnmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@yspersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weagses in the design or operation of internal comvelr financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regid’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpmhcial information; ant

b.  Any fraud, whether or not material, that invavaanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

Date: August 8, 2008 /s/ Paul Maritz
Paul Maritz
President and Chief Executive Offic
(Principal Executive Officel




Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Mark S. Peek, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Forn-Q of VMware, Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiomny untrue statement of a material fact or améitate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circunt&ts under which such statements were made, nk#adisg with respect to the period
covered by this repor

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statemeamts,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operat and cash flows of the registrant as of, andtfe periods presented in this rep

4.  The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) alngre responsible for establishing and maintaimisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules -15(e) and 15-15(e)) for the registrant and ha

a. Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresused such disclosure controls and procedutes tiesigned under o
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgubsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly dgyithe period in which this report is being prepa

b. [Paragraph omitted in accordance with SEC Rele4-47986]

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registratisslosure controls and procedures and presentdsineport our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andgulures, as of the end of the period coveredibyéport based on such
evaluation; ant

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the regid’s internal control over financial reporting thatooed during the registré' s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodiikbal quarter in the case of an annual repo#) tias materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’ s internal control over financial reporting; e

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anldave disclosed, based on our most recent evafuat internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmnmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@yspersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weagses in the design or operation of internal comvelr financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regid’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpmhcial information; ant

b.  Any fraud, whether or not material, that invavaanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

Date: August 8, 2008 /sl Mark S. Peek
Mark S. Peel
Chief Financial Office
(Principal Financial Officer




Exhibit 32.1
Certification of Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350,
as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarban&s<ey Act of 2002

I, Paul Maritz, certify pursuant to 18 U.S.C. SentiL350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 d#leanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that the
Quarterly Report of VMware, Inc. on Form 10-Q fbetquarterly period ended June 30, 2008 fully caspkith the requirements of
Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh 1934 and the information contained in suchn-&0-Q fairly presents, in all material
respects, the financial condition and results arafions of VMware, Inc.

Date: August 8, 2008 /sl Paul Maritz

Paul Maritz
President and Chief Executive Offic
(Principal Executive Officel

This certification “accompanies” the Form 10-Q tbigh it relates, is not deemed filed with the Sémg and Exchange Commission and
is not to be incorporated by reference into arigdilof the Company under the Securities Act of 13&3amended, or the Securities Exchange

Act of 1934, as amended (whether made before er tife date of the Form 10-Q), irrespective of gaegeral incorporation language contained
in such filing.



Exhibit 32.2

Certification of Chief Financial Officer

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350,
as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarban&s<ey Act of 2002

I, Mark S. Peek, certify pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Becl350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 db#rbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that
the Quarterly Report of VMware, Inc. on Form 104D the quarterly period ended June 30, 2008 fudiyglies with the requirements of
Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities ExchangeoA 1934 and the information contained in suchn-&0-Q fairly presents, in all material
respects, the financial condition and results arafions of VMware, Inc.

Date: August 8, 2008 /sl Mark S. Peek
Mark S. Pee
Chief Financial Office
(Principal Financial and Accounting Office

This certification “accompanies” the Form 10-Q tbigh it relates, is not deemed filed with the Sémg and Exchange Commission and
is not to be incorporated by reference into arigdilof the Company under the Securities Act of 13&3amended, or the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended (whether made before er tife date of the Form 10-Q), irrespective of gaegeral incorporation language contained
in such filing.



